OLDER:
4329

SCRIPTION:

Neville, Michael

DATE:

03/09/92
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DATE:
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NEW YORK COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

The People etc.,
against

Michael Neville

City and County of New York, ssti-

A, H. PURDY being duly sworn deposes and says:

That he is the attoerney for the said Neville; that on
the trial of said defendant, in summing up te the jury, the
District Attorney in substance said "DeWort has taken the

witness stand:and teld his story. The defendant's story we

have not heard.{g
[
Sworn to before me this)
, )
22nd day ef March 1892.,)

e

<
v

./ s
e
.’

3
,(J"f:’@,/;( /’/; o

pitg

Commissioner of Deeds

New York County.
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Police Court—. . [J.fed /. )L District.
@ity any ounty } R e
s : 58.1 e W
of Fetv Pork, 0 « g L~
. y
& 7 ... / ............................................................. Street, aged

being duly sworn
g auly,

deposes and says; that tbﬁp'remises No.

he City apd County oresaid the said béing a.. . ZEL. . . SXE 050 il i T e

~time, and the

g T

: %@é/onz'ouslg/ taken, stolen, and carrid

the property q ==
and deponent further /says, that he has great cawse to
d and the, c, ()7'6822'(; g

7

,(./} does belicve, that the qforesaid
fer, stolen angl_carvied away by
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‘928U 99270

O IRYISIP 0Q 0F Y LIPLO T PRUOLJUIUL ULYPLT 20U LTO 9Y) SV 122720

POUD U UY LAY DYJ DRDPDQ OF BSTADD JUIRROYINS 0% HuzoqQ 249y, J;

SST pazrd
“POTIUWD 039.L9Y LBUIYDILIPUN 9Y7 f2q L2TMSUD 0] 72D 0
WIULDU DAOGD YT PIFILUPD DY T

SST vapod

2DQ YINS 9 Y J2FUN ‘YL GBAT L0 220 9y fo
117270 DYy7 SO 1od22IL PUD UIPIDAL DYP 0F PIIJIULLULOD 2Q PUD "7 T $ADIFO PILPUNE

PUD DWDS Y LOMSUD 0] PIoY 29  2Y  IPYT (opLO T ‘L0249Y7 712Nl

DOULHU UPYFIAY YJ 9RD2]IQ OF 28D 2UDOUYINLS ST 2.LDYY IDYR PUD ‘PIFIIUULOD

UDIQ SDY PIUOIUIUL ULDLOY ) dULILD 0YP JDYT sqUIULDIVYS PUD 510777 S0P UIYJI N YT riq s oz buguvaddv 31

AV IOHANT—UHO

\
Street,

Magistrate.

TOE PEOPLE, &s.,
on the complaint of

o answer General Sessions.

Police Court, . Districk

Witnesses,

No. ..
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CITY AND COUNTY |
OF NEW YORXK, S,

/J‘/M WW /of No.

R ——

Street, being duly sworn, deposes and

says, that Le has heard read the foregoing affidavit of

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponent’s own

knowledge.

Sworn to‘%ﬁ)re me,
day of

I lig‘@_(éi\Justwe.
<y
X
3
(3692) X

CITY AND COUNTY ] _
OF NEW YORK, SS.

.. years, occupation X : of No.

Al L

f ............................................ Street, being duly iworn, deposes and
says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit of }/%‘WM W%

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponent’s own

knowledge.

Sworn to_before me, this

(8692)




CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK, SS.

of N

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponent’s own

knowledge.

Sworn to 251?7'6/776, this Yz | /e %(M\
/.:"/:' /’ Yl 7N 189

(3692)
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See. 198—200. . District Police Court.

/
CITY AND COUNTY |
OV MEW YORK, § 58

........ M being duly examined before the under-

signed according to law, on the annexed charge; und being informad that it is  h 6‘ right to
make o stotement in relation to the charge against h &a_s that the stutement is designed to
enable h L"\ if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the fagts alleged against h N
that he is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h 4’-5 waiver cannot be used
against h =~ 0on the trial.

Question. MV Wl‘lr name !
Answer. /’/ ./LM

Question. ¥ow old are you !

Answer. & ?/W)

Questionn. Where were you born

Answer. % < 7 v

Questionn. Where do yo live, and how long huve you resided there %
}
A"ww”'ﬂﬁ é?/ Mm DZW ﬁézfm
Question. What is your business o1 profession ?
Answer.
Question. (iive any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in .the

testimony against you, und state any fucts which you think will tend to your
exculpation ?

Answer. 9 Y Vs D M\ %)
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B £ D T ol

See, 198—200. . ) 7 District Police Court.

7

AND COUNTY }
NEW,VORK, §55

being duly examined before the under-
signed according to law, on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is h LJ right to
make n statement in relation to the charge against h (e~ that the statement is designed to
enable h l’LA if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h o
that he is at liberty to walve making a statement, and that h 6 waiver cannot be used
against h ‘e on the trial.

WL

Guestion. 1at is your name ? /&W/ W
Answer. W/

Question. How old are you

Amnswer. ,L ‘5’\ W

Question. Wheare were you born?
Amnswer. MM

Question. Where do you live, and how long have you resided there ?

answer. D48 9 F Prort ¥ o S Scaeo
Question. What iggyour business or profession ?

Amnswer.

Question. (five any explanation you muay think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
testimony aguainst you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your
exculpation ?

P ) S A %%/
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It appearing tn me by the within depositions and statements that the crime therein mentioncd has been

%tgd, arnd th, there is sw]’ﬁcz%zusa baZier he within n% A_

I order that he be ha%%@ same, and he be aii\mittecl {0 bail in tlhe sumt of
__Hundred Dollar » £ 7 rden and Keeper of

rs,.

the City Brjson gf the City of gfu%,) wntil he Sive sw
Datedd d/m?/' 18.977’"

T have admitied the above-narmved............. . eeiiciiiieninaiinns

to bail to answer by the wndertalking hereto annexed.

189 Police Justice.

Dated,

There beind no sufficient cause to believe the wilhin rnamed

suilty of the offense within mentioned, I order h to be discharged.

Police Justice-

Dated
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Gomet of Geueval Sessions of the Leace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Tour ProrLeE or THE STATE OF NEw YORK

agaénst -

%W Plecrell e

- A

ot

(é(/" (/6(4 cn @—G kCC/‘&k J"‘(//

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse

cadiats Pecontle S, Garilil D s

of the Ormme oF BURGLARY INCTEE THIRD DEGREE, committed as follows :

The sa,ld/\,)/&/c/%,«'(/(/ W,@zﬂ( ZU&ZZMM/&C Z(/R/L/) G

late of the é ot A Ward of the City (}_%New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the

M W% day of ,_/{,O(_//"‘I,/&(,/%/*}/f in the year of our Lord one
thousand eight Yundred and ninety- m in the\mj H_/ - time of the same day, at the

Ward, City ?d County aforesaid, a certain building there situate, to wit, the W/\/(z of

there situate, feloniously and burglariously did break into and enter, with intent to commitssome
erime therein, to wib: with intent the goods, chattels and personal property of the said
, in the said W‘A - - \

then and there being; en and there feloniously and burglariously to steal, take and carry away,

against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the

~a .
People of the State of New York and their diénit/‘,y

ey
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@owrt of Geweral Sessions of the Leace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Tue PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

against

‘%W el
e oA

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New Yorl, by this indictment, accuse

< -
) . : : §

of the CRIME or‘ BURGLARY IN(TE[D THIRD DEGREE, committed as follows :

The said/ /{/(,y/\i«,@/( %/(/U?/éé /O (/Z/MQC Cen =t %/*Zé

late of the °?, W Ward of the Clty few York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the
/W W/ day of A /VL_/%/ ‘? in the year of our Lord omne
thousand eight Yundred and ninety- \/@/—d in the“ztc - time of the same day, at the

Ward, City /nd County aforesaid, a certain building there sﬂ:uate, to wit, the VM of

OBG%M 7@‘” g}/’/@ 4

there situate, feloniously and burglariously did break into and enter, with intent to commitssome
e thexeln to wib: “1th intent the goods, chattels and personal property of the said ~
M in the said /\/(/La:»\/c_

then and there being—then and there feloniously and burglariously to steal, take and carry away,

against the form of the statute in such case made and 1)10v1dec1 and against the peace of the

People of the State of New York and then d1€1.1t3/ __,_%/(/C/
/AQ( g <
- N
[ o
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FOLDER:
4329

DESCRIPTION:

Newton, John

DATE:

03/09/92

IO

4329
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(1365)

«

A__—
Police Couxrt— Distxrict. Affidavit—Larceny.

ity and Gonnty |
of e Pork, ’

- . Street, aged years,

ocewpation.......... . 2. By, T T

being duwly swormn,

yd s .
deposes and says, that orn the_.. day of. “a/(7 189 Zat the City of New

York, in the County Ww York, was feloniowsly talen, stolen and carried away from the possessiorn

of deponent, in the...... .. p A time, the following property, viz:

and that this deponent
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CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK, SS.

O'L%e//\
says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit of & J N

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of dep

of No.

onent’s own

knowledge.

Sworn to before me, this......
day of . 189X

Police Justice.

(3692)
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rary A L e o

Sce. 198—200. s e e e IS BTG Police Court

CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW RK

being duly examined before the under-
signed a.(:c/ording to law, on the annexed charge, and being informed that it is h < right to
make a statement in relation to the charge against h L. ; that the statement is designed to
enable h N if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h

that he 1is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h . waiver cannot be used
against h on the trial.

Question. What is your name ?

Answer. %\ W

Question. How old are you?
Answer. C ? <F’4~—M’7

Question. Where were you born ?
P

Answer. 3/‘/- W

Question. Where do you live and how long have you resided there?
Answer. Z/? f Z . ?/ ’%,, _ / M
Question. What is youg,business or profession?

Answer. %

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the testimony
against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your exculpation ?

/
fo fimp

-~

" S 9 040 f3) LD,

681 %@
J

T
P 74

R L
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It appearing to me by the within depositiongand statements that the crinve therein mentioned has been

# to believe th Win nanved,

| guilty thereof, I order that he be held to answer the same and he be admitted {o bail in the swnv of

Hundred Dollars and be committed to the Warden and Keeper of

the City 2rispn, of the City of New Fork, until
Date é}

I have admitted the above-namec

to bail to answer by tlhe undertaking hereto annexed.

Police Justice.

Dated : 718

There being no sufficient cause to believe the within named

Suilty of the offence within mentioned. I order h to De discharg‘éd.

Police Justice.
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e e

@t of Geweral Sessions of the Leace

or THE City anp CounTy OF NEW YORK.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

AGAINST

R@\.\M W

e e R /

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse

~\§~\WY\M —

of the CRINE OF R prsnrm~ s LARCENY P < R e S

committed as follows:

The said \S\-\’W W
> /
//

late of the City of New York, in the County of.N ew York aforesaid, on the & Kv—n’vx
day of R P e T in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and

ninety- < , at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms, with intent to

. . ~r -
deprive and defraud I~ &wz ~ . = o > S L

of the proper moneys, goods, chattels and personal property herveinafter mentioned, and of the
use and benefit thereof, and to appropriate the same to =, - own use, did then and there
feloniously, fraudulently and falsely pretend and represent to _,}%\{\L > e B>

>

%6\\-*- ;_ % m/&-xn — s -

- ~
-

Thtt o meS e D o S S S v

MW——— w}“ %?”N N‘)\X“W’\‘J\& ,sﬁ —~—a—INC f..

.. . :'.?;*i’ s U S . SO N%MN
Qwﬁ&w%wg
‘_—{;\F»QJQM% [ GRS N A g

D_*D\_

o
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P~ S 1%—-9 A?NA\- >\-'\».v4 Kﬁ. - p,(s.:,—)-s- SQXM“ N~ =
/‘&\Qau-— PR . S /\Q\b-&»»_’{ D e D 3= ) . W

Ko AN, ol QNS R e B e ema S e
P - s S —~— S N D&,
T i e i
S Sl P A e T

- mw.,,.’)(;\ P .. G

By color and by aid of which said false and fraudulent pretenses : nd representations, the said

&8\,\* ~— . ——

Aid then and there feloniously and fraudulently obtain from the possession of the said P

- £~ N, S

—

e e S AT e PN <

- \\_‘
of the proper moneys, goods, chattels and personal property of the smd\g\w, -
%U\&\QJ‘\J\N\DN » - ——

with intent to deprive and defraud the sa.id\g\.w =, § ~ N\S‘\Mw

4

of the same, and of the use and benetit thereof, and to appropriate the same to M own use.

avllkl’kﬂﬁ, in truth and in fact, the said -~ s> g ,\,_,__:‘A )

S D
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g T OE TP P eI

WY -
gn[{ L’-‘*ﬂter&‘aﬁ, in truth and in fact, the pretenses and representations so made as afore-

to the said W . % N‘\J%\w

then and there in all respects utterly false and untrune, as P S the said

at the time of making the saume then and there well knew ;

2nd so the Grand Fhwry Afovesnid, do say that the said

W s .-

in the manner and form aforesaid and by the means aforesaid, the sald proper

chattels and personal property of the saic% "")(',

was and were

moneys, goods,
) ————

A‘/

then and there feloniously did sT1AL, against the form of the statute in such case made and pro-

vided, and against the peace and dignity of the said people.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District Attorney.
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Nolze, Max
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03/25/92
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TESTIMONY.
Q\
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5\)/71/5,/ &y &A Xj)‘/g( /?\/ U(x//;(/( /% /%{LW(%

e - S /JA/ Qe /wzx/a/czx/éé&/’\

Atz T F R /p//éz/w

é«/‘*'i/ MC%/
ﬂ (7 el % Sl cee

%ztoz/c' /%?[//’ s // /{,}"/’Z /1'/44_/{,4
g %Zqﬁ//}’z/('zxm(

K/ Lec e z/c"// ;L( Cecc
C//~/< £CF £Z - }/ K() J M /N%
/{/ e (6?

oa %f,/)/( LS ex v R R f/c<q,/

/{&M N // dﬂy < e e f‘ﬂ(‘ s "f/

A+ A ) | T
@/(v/ (u )\ fé%/“z’_//? P A e A B —/M»'/W%W--Wg; e

() 4(/ é&‘ &‘-14/»</</6/ = 5’///’/ MW@W@
7 61‘ o A g et W%

| . 7/5/[/(// pres S 3R (/4/:/ . . ‘ﬁé/f;c % CEnn 7yl E72Z% %&_

Cin cer= &//G/ R N e Y P < %/@7

5 cev %&Wn/a/ =, A
/{‘ /V/;z / iy P //Z,?si.;%

/ ‘ 7/ mfr/

/2/% e Xz& A g /C/Q{/_(l %ﬁ




POOR QUALITY
. ORIGINAL

_STATE OF'NEW YORK,

CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORIE?SS.

AN INQUISITION
Faken at the é{/%p- el AT 0/??/%

At Dhrapee Hiririiiss st in the 2 T IS W of vl Bty of

N ow Yrk, in the Bounly of Now York, s 2 S72 day of e eclics

e e peat o!/o(Jé i1l one thowsand e7// Hundicad and 97/3?4(7-&‘-%@ /e/o’w

) ~ LOUIS W. SCHULTZE, Coroner, ‘

vl Tty and Gounty ofescsnid, om viiww of the bucy S ACh cocleo ladeesrs
e _ » ncer yeng dead al
o Von the Cuths and v fermations of

e e ool andd lasgfl mn of e Tiate of Noww Yorle, ditly ofosens and

devoizz, O (1////227715(/, and c/aya/ lo z}z;/yméc, 22 /ré////o/ :mw?//’/fo’ré, Sce: andd tr cotied marret e

saeid //&M/d IWW/VZ/ ' came lo fito dewlh, do wpon

thver Culhs wnd Q%/é'zmalfom}, sery Fhiwt the ‘“7%6@&&4 /%///ZX/WZ/

, came lo Ko deatlh Xy
@W&M/ J - ‘”d/f7/ it (Mo peereld— 2 ﬁt%://ﬂ// S e www&é?{ A
//{i(/ W ate %ﬂ& At NE -% /MM/ Lo e

2y bl Coiced 4 s, Mooticioer Faecl / celed

/

%yﬂ/ 7W cfefef Hhpg b 3T Dot Feco

ilj/ll AWitwess W ‘Im’.lmf, Ve, the s /f’awm, ws well as (4e CORONER, Hrwe Lo thia betzzéa?c&n
sel olct St recls cereed dﬂ((A‘, oz the e/rz} au(//’z/(;ce (7226.45:&'@/_ ’

JT U ROIRS-

/l%ﬂ////%/k/ ZFS < F ﬂfi@/

9/??/5(%}/ /J 6 s o /f/CW
i) il o 34y~ &l
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~_ %ﬁ/?‘//} ﬂé/ﬂoﬁﬁ o . D., being duly sworn, says:s

s jh ve made ol £ lz/c%//-@;@y  of the body of
: /i ////4, — ( R now lying dead at

_ 77 e , O fand from such ( e |

_ an/a;ﬂ};;;;;y ‘0 the/f as ;/@'V testimony, 9 awm 0 aﬁzniftk/ey % of -

- death 1s , %/ Wé %’7
TS - 2% @4%/ﬁ/
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Date
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Dealtl took place.—

The Autopsy revealed

Ad. 1. State the day of the weck.

Ad. A. State whether by Ambulance or Friends,

Ad. B. State whother from a Precince or a Residence and give the name.

Ad. C. State whether from Natwral Carses or from Shock {consgcious or unconscious) due to Injuries, and if s0, give namae, place, date,

. nwmbear, character and Lxtent of Injuries, always stating wheore indicated, whether »ight or left.

Ad. D. State when, where, oo, by what means or persons received, also whether Accidental, {eid or Ko icidal; in falls, the
distance, location and place; in Burns and Scalds the circumstances attending the same; in 77nover cases, the line of Street
Car, Rallroard or Conveyanca; in Weapons, the character of the same, &c., &ce., always giving such information as will lead to
an accurate knowledge of the case and facilitate Jjudicial inquiry and justice.

Ad. E. State name, date, place, character and resuwlts of any oper or » performed.

Ad. F. Give a short resume of the Awrropsy with the Pathnlogical Diagnosis and the Cawuse of Death at the End.

Ad G. State here any important facts not embodied in the above statements.
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At ernoon Session.

BYAMINATION OF CAPTAIN ADAM A. CROSS, cont inued:

CROSS BEYAMINED RBY MR, SANVGER:
Q I mdrstood ¥ 6 say before wrecess that 1 s: know
Chexrles Shore, the doccased? A
Q Mever had had met him before? A NWot to my knowlsdges 1 sup—
pose I heve seen hiim but not o know him.
And knew notihing about him? ' ian't know any-
thing about hime.
Knew notldnsg ~ood about him? Mothing s o00d.
Knew nothing bad about hhim¥
THE COURT: Tha + won't do, yow can put the
guesticn, if he knew this man, knew his general repiita-
tion for peace and guiciness.
Were vyou acquainted with Sho re's general reputat ion for peace
and gquietness? A ¥Wo,sir, I Aidr't know him at all.
T mean were vou acquainted with -isreputation for peace and

guietness? A No,sir.

-

You were going on t o makes some statement , and I = osed
?

that what you wer: going to say ta d samething in connect ion
with his reputat ion, either as an orderly or disorderly per-
son?

THE COURD: He says he doesn't know what his
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Iindicitment filed I 1591,

Indicted for Manslaughter in the Second Degras.

Hew York,
APPBARANCES.,

Por the Peeple Assistant Distidict Vernon
., Davis.

Por the Dafendoant My, Adolph L. Sanger,

The jurolrs were called, examined and sworn.

vis cpsnsd the cass fo1r the People.
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At the time you were tussling it fermam

knife, stick or pistal in yow hands? Ao
1E8nds @

"

Did Tlerrmann have anything irciic

That I know

Did you : ning i the dofendmant's
adidn't

Ty L 7 63 v
FOU. Were

Tere I
Betwesn those TTo.
Vhen your looked wp bhotin of
Yoo gsir,
1lid yvou stay there wiith o3 > 7 L, About
minuaites.
did anybody come up wvhile yox were here? He
oy bonTe
Ae Oeorse ToOXe.
10 ? Ae ¥le came WP to me and told me

d Look out for Charles

Soehuary ther
Benuyn o
ig Ffuanersl; I
Thet was wihe Cihhini wiig Tuesdai .
How many days e i Ltk \ Tliis

OctoWer 4th.
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GEORGE w, 0 X, =a witness cslled on behalf of the Poo-

(=]

ple, being duly sworn, testified as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION by ¥r, Davis.
Q. Where do you live?® A. Mo. 423 10th Avenue.
Q. What is your business? A. Boss carman.
Q. I{ave"},réu been the employver of the last witne ss? A.
Q. And also of Schurr? A. Yes, sir.

In his 1lifetime? A. VYes, sir.

Q
Q on the night of the 4th of Octobex, 1891, did you see ihe

jast witness and Schuxrr? A, Yes, sir.
Where? A, Ho. 408 35th Street.

Ig that a saloon? A, Yes, sir.

who was the keeper of it A, I don't know his name.

What time was it you 8B8aw them there? A. iine o'elock
<

the last T saw of them.

In the evening? A, Ves, sir.

Did you see this de fendant Max Nolze?
vou saw him also? A, Yes, sir.

And the other one, hisrman That is
see lerman, I saw this

Yheyre 6id you see him? him in front of the house

in 35th Street where they lived.

About whet time? A. About 10 or minutes past nine.

Who eclse was there at the time ? schury and Hatch.
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The deceased Schuryr? A. ¥Yes, sir.

And Hateh? A. Ves, sir.

vou cams out of the saloon? A. VYes, sir.

And vou went down to this place? A. I walked down T owards

where they yan.

Did you go with Hatch and Scury, OF after them? A, After-

wards; they wewve running down the street and I walked down.

¥hen vou got there tell us wyiom you Saw? AL saw !ateh and

Schurr and the two llolze brothers Fighting.

Alsc this men here, this defendant? A, Yes,

him "You had better stop this here row or You

rested, soma of you will get arrested’. With that he made

three or four passes at me; I thnought I wouldn't 1like to set

hit by & man of his size and I went to the other side of the

straest, i everything stopped Tor & s@cond or two and

Holze walked on the sidewalk.

which iTolze? A. The defendant. The deceaged ran over Lo

tHe defendznt snd wanted to hit him & blow =-- the da ceased

aid., With that the defendant hit the decsased and the de-=

ceased turned around & couple of times and fell on tha side -

walk.

the Cowrt:

Vhere was the deceased? A. First he was in the middle of

the strect.

The deceased went on the sidewalk and made & blow
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for the defendant; the defendant, which is Max Holze, hit

théhdeceased & blow; the decessed made a couple of turns up-
on the sidewalk and fell.

Wners did ﬁe fall? A. Right near the gutter, his Te=t and
legs were in the gutter, but the biggest portion of his body
was on the sidewalk.

i, Davis:

You say that the deceased came from the strest to the side-~-
walk towayrds the defendant? A. VYes, sir,

And mzde a pass at him? A. Yes, sir.

Whet did he make & pass witin?® A, Wigh his f£ist, I think.
Was there anything in his fist A, I could not tell you
that.

Did you ses anything in his hand? A, EBxaem 110, ir.

You did not see anything? A, o, siyr,.

NQ club? A, HWo, sir.

Mo stick or stonef? A.

Or knife?® ~ A. HWo, sir.

Then this defendant made & strike at him? A, Ves, sir.

Did the defendant have hold of Schurr at the time he styuck
him®?

Did Schurr Have hold of him? A, 1o, sir.

Did vou see anything in the defendant's hend when he made that

strike? A, No, sir.

How was the strike m=de?® A. Just like that (inqicating).
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Iike this (indicating)? A, Yes, siv, a side stroke .
Whers did it 1and upon the body of Schuryr as far as you can

judge® A. He was hit in the head, that is 5211 I know.

“fhen it weas that he recled around and fell? A, Yes, sir; he

was hit in the face .

wWas that the last pblow struck? Al sgir, that was the

last .

et became of the defendant then? A, The defendant and his
brother'ran ocout angd step he housé.

wnen Schuri fell what A, I went oOvsY and caught

1mold of him to look at

fsyouw saw his nead there gixw» =-—- I s2W e

. 1\ - - ‘ ¥ v W
e + ove .

cams
A s x . .

“*;\'"35"»:‘._ i R Fe i : .
Then | A, Tes, SiY.

Did vou sea & wound upon Schurr?

Ilow nea&r place on the sidewalk whe re the jast blow was

struck did Scnurr Pall? A. Tle was strck up'near Lhe stoop

=nd he reeled around right to the guttexr.

Did Schurr have anything in his hands when vou saw him lving

A, o, sir.
Did yvou see &Ny

knife or stone around thexye? AL R0, sir.

Any sticks ay ound there? A. 5o, sir.

From the time you gol thers antil

+he time yeu lelt, aid you

see anything of that kind in the hands of Schurr? A, Ho,
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sir.

Or ‘in the hands&f Hatch? A; o, sir.

vou said you came up and told them to stop this? A
sir, I tried %O pacify them.

vouw csme up to this de fendant? A, YVes, sir,.

o

Did the ay enything to you when you sai
A

e, sir.

were they having hold of ezch other, this de Tendani and Schurr
fox

whern yowu camas Uup and tiried to separats +hem?® A, Blow wRRax
blow it was.
Stending uap, blow for blow?® A, VYes, sir.
llow did Schurr, the dcceased, gat out into the middle of ithe
astreet? A, They waryrd both;in the middle of the strost Light-
ing =--= the whole four o® them were in the middle off the
street Fighting.
Then was it on the sidewalk where the 1ast blow was struck by
the defendant? A. TYes, sir, it was.
Whot became of Charles Schur:r while you were with Ihim? A, As
soon a&s I saw that he was saturated with blood I thought it
best to swmon an officer and an officer came. Ilie looked at
him with a lamp -- o they brought out & candle =< and he saw
he was hurt bad, and the officer went and te lepnonad For an

ambulance .

Did you stay there until the ambulance came? A, Yes, sir.
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Did you see the doctor at the ambulance ? .
Di-, Taylor? A. I would not know him.
Is that the gentleman® A, Yes, six, sentleman.,
As far as you can recollecti? A. Teg, 3t 58 & YOouns
‘ I know,
Did vou go to the hospital? A witlh the asmbu-
lence, no, sir.
Did vou see Schury #t tho hospital?
What hospital? A. Roosevelt Hospital.
vmen did vou see nim there? &, Abocut hs
morning.

Tollowing morning?

he unconscious? A

saw him alfrerrwards when he
Wihiare ? A, £t his home.
In 4A9th Styeet?

510 West?

iTow d4id you go down there with the intention of having

fight with these two men? A, Vo, sir.
‘At the time vyou got there was there anybody else there but
the two Holzes, Hatch, Schurr and yourself? A. Theat is all.

Were there anybody else zattacking this de fendant ?

"After Schury fell do vou say the defendant yam into

house ? A. Ves, sir.
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Did he have any difficulty in ettt ing A, There ware TwWOo
or three people on the stoep.
Oon the stoop? A, Ves, sir.
Did anybody prevent .nim fiom going in® Al ) siy.
Ve there any crowd to prevent him Leom matt throush?
sivr.

wo mither avenuae?

preventing this

ot attempt to
the styeest.
vou strike the de fendant oy his protner?
vou raise & nand to assist in any way ?
you have anyihing in your nands?
Did Hatceh? A, Yo, sir.
COROSS-BXAMIMNATION by Wr. Sangser.
- Q. Did you hesar Hatch when he came into the
vyou to give & hand? Al
vou were not in the galoon itself =t
Siy
liow soon after he out did yow A

Abocut five

minutes I guess.

As much as that? A, Yes, siy, Tour

or Tive minutes.

When you camg out you followed Hatch and gSchuryr towsrds 10th
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Avénue? A, Yes, siyr.
Did you see them Tighting with sach other? A. Yes, sir.
Who was Hatch Ffighting with? Al Her&an I believe his name
is.
Al
And Schurr was Tighting g Holze?
Were they striking blows at other? A
Pretty thick znd fast?® A,

vou sew the deceased £all? sir.

Can vou tell in what way he Tell, i vhat direction? A. Yes,

siy, he made a couple oOF wvgvolut ione snd fell right across

that way, his body on the sidewalk snd his leps and feet in
e gutter.

Did he Tall on his back or side? A, Right on his back, he
might have nit on his side and rolled over, but I found him
on his back.

Did.you see the defendant hit the de before he Ffell?
A. Yes, sir.

Can you tell in what way he nit him -- the manner in which
the blow w=2s struck? A, Yo, sir, ; could not tell you &
dizgram of his hand when he was working it, but I just saw
him hit the blow.

vou don't know the direction of that blow, do you®? A.

sir, I do not.
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vou don't know what part of Schurr's body that blow struck,

do you? A, Yes, sir.

were you examined at thie Coroner's inquest?

Do vou remember this question and was this answeyr made DY you!

vou were asked in what way 4id he hit nhim, that is in what

way 4id the de fendant it the deceased, Ycazn yronr tall us¥Y

N

And vou answered "Moo, sirY. was that true then? A. T could

not tell, but I know hs nit him in the face ov head,

vou saiy it was very davrk?

They were raining blows upon each others body, @li paris of

sach othexr's body?

vou saw nothins in the defendant 's hand?

Za E4

Mo knite?®

Or other s

hHo you ramembesr IR question being put to vou at the Coro-

mnex 's inquest and your ANsSWer to it: vDid you see where he

gprucdk himself, that is where the deceased struck himself",

‘and your answer was 1imfortuns tely ne struck himself on the

Foreheady; do rou remember that? A. Lo, sir.

Do vou remember making that answer? A. o, sir.

Do vou remembey this answsr: v went down the street; Tour

=

men were fighting;

I heard no noises, no cries oy anything
1ike that'". Do you remember that? A, Ves, sir.

‘Is that true? A. Yes, sir,
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Did you see the defendant's arms around Schuwr? A, Mo, sir.

Thé following question was put to you at the Coronsy's in-
‘gquest: "Hid you sec Max's arms arvound Schurr?®
swver was YVesg®, Wwas that gquestion put to you and did you
make thst answer? A Ho, sir, I don't remember that,.
Or any such answexr being made by you? A, Mo, sir.
Yvou don't remembe:: that? A. lio, sivr
Do vou remembper this question: viie was holding him with his
two mrms?Y and vour asnswer was Y"ilo clinch, it was blow fowx
blow®®? A,
You remsmber % A, VYes, sir,
“T could not z it was so duark you could
thingve A

rou remember that? A. VYes, siy.

2 metter of fact you didn't ses how the bliow was struck?

I saw Him strike him in the face somewhere.

is all yvou s8awe? sir.

It was tco dark%or yvou to sez anything else? A, Yes, sirvr.
'Is it true you weyre very close up to both these partiss at
the’tjme the blow was given? A, Ves, sir, right opposite,
‘Zeross the way.
How:close wereg youf? A, Apout FTiftesn feet.

Fifteen fTeet? A. VYes, sir.

Do vou remember this question put to you at the Corcner's in-
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guest YYou were Ver'y close up to him® and your answer was

nyés"., Do you remember that? A, 3o, sir, I don't remzmber

that.
vou don't remsmber that? A. o, sir.

And this question followed YiHe struck at ¥ 7 and your an-—

awer was YVes'v. De vou remember that? he 4id, ¥yes,

sir.

And you mean Lo £oll this jury you ware Pifteen Teet awayf’

A Y¥es, the siltelrcation was in the middie of the s

After this thing was. subdued in the middle of
defendant walked on the sidewalk.

Thenn you walked after him? A, TYes,

sir; atter he

couple of passes &t me T walked to the opposite side of whe

strest, that is the north side, and +he defendant wzlked on

the south side of the street; while standing by hiis doeor the

deceased then ran ovel, and just as I curned around I saw

tlhe dmceased make & blow at the defandant; the defz2ndant

turned around and made deceasced. what s what

said at the Coronar's inquest.

is true? A VYes,

The defendant went opposite side of the street?

A, Yes, sir

Q.  Tre deceased followed him & stiruck him? A, Yes, sir.
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At the Coroner's examination were you asked this

question:
"who was holding him with his two arrms?" and aid you answexr
PThere was nc clineh, it was blow for hilow?® A, Thet is whot
T said at the Coroner's inquest.

Then this question "He struck at youf? ves, sSir"®? A Yes,

sixr,

Yyhen he stryuck a2t you he had no wezpon in his hand? A. Vo,
six ., Did you make that answer? A Mo, sir, I said I didan't
know whethey he had anyithing in his hand not. That is

what I said.

What do you say now, hnad he anytlzing

gi, I don't know whether he had or not.

there any gas lamp near that placey T A, There was
by the church threa houses away .
By the Courﬁ:
Q. Lichts i £1 + of the church® A. Yes, siyr, two lights.
Q. How Ter awsy A. About 75 feet.
Q. And the 2 3 A. One hundred feest.
A,
on the corner oi the streest?

Tsiv.

PP RPN




 POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL

28

A N DR EW S ¢H OLES, a witness called on behalf of the
@ople, being duly BWOIL, tegtified as Tollows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION by Mr. Davis.
‘Q.°  Wnhat precinct, officer? A. The 20th.
Q. Oon the night of the 4th of October, 1891, werz Yyou on post
=nd 9th and 10th Avenus?

1,
¥

defzndant that night?

half past 10 or a& quavter of 11.
yvou ses the deceased, Charles Schurx»? 1 s iy,
Where Aid you ses thea defendant Tirst? hhisg brother-
in-law's house.
Yheyre ? A, Mo, 444 West 35th Sereaet .
Who is his brother-in-law? A. Herman Holze.
Is that his brother-in-law® A. His brother.
Had yvou vecaived up to that time any information
the commission of this homicide? A, Vas, sir.
i om whome A. Trom OFficer Carley and OFfficer Kennedy.
vou weceive that information? A, As they were
wolze +to the station house.
that? A. About somewhers & ound & quarier
past @, bstween a quarter and half past.

Where 4id you meet theme? A. Cormner 306th Street and 10th
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Avenue ,
"vou were then on post? A, Yes, siv.
After vou talked with these officars what did you do? A, Thoey

‘were taking Herman lolze to the station nouse.

APter you talked with these officers wherse did you go? A, I

o

went around to 35th Strest in front of his brother's house,

Wnom 4id yowu see? A. I wanted to find out = could
find anvihing about this Aefeandant.

vou went there? A, ves, sir; I stoppe

stoop or the sidewalk and while

wife came down.

Did vou spesk with har?

After tslking with her

‘when you got up to the door cutside, what did you do?
ame to the door; the door was locked.

ane lknockesed 2t the door?

My, Sangor: I cobject to anything this lady may
have said to this officer.
was the door open? A, VYes, sir.
wio was inside the room? A, Max Nolze.

This defendant? A. Yes, sir.

Did ¥

PP IC PR
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Did the woman o in? A. Ves, sir.

what was said inside the room when you got in theye?

A
hgppensd to have the younsg one on his arm; she took the
cone from him and I took him right out of the housc.
Did he say anyihing then? ' A, ves, sir.
Whet 2Aid he say®? A. He wanted to Know what businﬁss I had
+to come up stairs in his brother's house and aryest him; I
told him he knew &ll about it or he would Find out what the
‘chse was when he got around to +the station house.
Did the wife say anything in 1ig hearing and presence?
"A. Wo, sir; she said it down stairs to ms.
Was it in his presence? A, M¥Wo, sir.
wife spoke to you before you went wpe? vas, Sir,
broutht him out of the yoom? A Yes, sir,.
took him to ithe station house? A Ves, sir.
Did vou go with him alone? A. Yesh, sir.
Oon the way to the station house 4id you have any talk with
him? Al
" What was it?® A, Well, he just simply gave me the same &argls
ment as much as to say =—- ha saiad I had no business coming up

gstairs in his prother's house and taking nim out of his rooms

without a warrant. I told him T did not need any warrant to

arrest him,

What did he say to you to that? A. He said, "All right, X
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will go with you.

How was he dressed, Did he have a coat on?

sort of iz »t and a soft felt hat, a light

Wist station house did you taks him {o°? 37th
rweon Oth snd 10th Avenue.
Did you searc
You 4id not gseazaych Nim?
ced him.
TIn your pressnce? A, Yes,
Vizs there anyithing found on him? i, sir.,
In the station house did you or snybody 2lse in
S Rave sny talk with him? L T siv.
Did you notice whether he had any &1k =t &
ne did not have any.
" Did vou notice whethey any wownds?
e hszd none? A, o, sir,.
Any bruises? \ o sir .
"0 his face oy othe : ife, sir, I did nct
"whatever,
‘Did he complain of any in your presence? A. i =]
Did you sese him after you took nim to the station house --=
T 4id you bring‘him'to Cowrt? R sir .,
" Did you see him afterwards? -, I saw him &t

. Coroner's inquest.
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Q. Did you have any talk with him?

 CROSS-EXAMINATION by My . Sanger.
Q.. . Did you exemine his body for the purpose of

whether there were any bruises on him¥ A,

J O HN . ¢ & R L ; a2 witness called on behalf of the

Paople, being duly sworn, testified as follows:
DIRECT BXAM AT IO by Mr. Davis.
yhat precinct do you belongs to? A, The 20th.

ol the 4th of Octobher, 1891, wers you in West 35th Street

tweed 9th and 10th Avenue, =t +he house or neay the house
ENN )

Herman Nolze? A, Yes, sir.

Had yow Dreviously arrested him? A, Between the howrs of O

and 10.
At night? A.

That would be October 4the A. Yes, sir.

what day was that? A. I could not exactly say;

Sunday evening, October 4th.

Previous to going there had you sesh Herman nolze,

the bproth-
ey of the defendant? A, VYes, sir, when I went up stairs I

saw Herman Nolze.

Did you arvest him? A, Vas, sir; cfficer Kennedy and I

fetched nim out of the house.

Where did you take him to%? A. To the station lhouse in




Street.

pid _you search Hermant

Did vou search him®?

Wwas ne searched in your presence?

Wwas anything found on nhim?

" After aryesting
nd ¥
ital.
vou went baclk whexe?
Did you seeg (Chearles

gir,

Did the ambulance come while

Was awWaY

«oc the Roosevsly

o with detective Smith to

afterwards? A.

That wouwld bs Monday ?

¥hat time did you gJo?

5 o'clock in the

‘yhers 4id you oY

2

A.

the houses on 34ath and

Which house did you O

Streest.

That is the house occupied by

L.

Hermen where did you 5079

Schwer,

I saw him lying on
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A, He was not my prisoner.

o, sir.
A
A.

Mo, sir.

A. I went

boy who was injured was t=ken to

A, Teo 85th Street, iTo. 444,

the man wno was injure a2
the walk.

you were there? A, Yeg, sir.

ambulance ? Al sir, he was tak-

these premises

ves, sir, the day after .

A Yes, siv, I went Monday afternoon,

A. YWe went around there batween 4 and

evening.

We went in the yzrd, in +the resr of

35th Strestuts.

into first? A. Mo, 444 West 55th

the brother Herman? A, Yes,




[ B

Where 4id you O in that

Whet 4id you do there? A

we
find a knife

Did vou find baick

you had

make any other se

Objected to.

A. We ment throush other yards

446, 443 z2ll

TwWhat 4id vou

.

idto the yards on S4th

thege pramises?

AL4L? A, Yes, sir,

vie went into

cset and ssarched the

‘houses. Then we came back apn:

‘the roof of & nhouse in 35th

tha{z roof we saw & knifg on
Styreet and we czlled to a
knife .

‘vou saw &

Al

house?

vara?

the back

the

an extoension of

sgrvant

knife on an extension of =a
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A. We went in the hack

searched if we ceculd

A
4.

and didan't

alonsg thwe lLinc of +tIw houses,

down I A 554

S SS o

and waent

A

pback of &1l of them from

T
111G

yards of the houses On

thne

St

and on roofs of

$5th et and went on

and on & Jloweyx

roof fhirom
house on 34th

sirl t if it z

was

344h Strest house ?

&
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Thet extension ran towards 35th Street ? A, Yes,
How near to the prg@ises oceupied by Herman lolze
extension? A, It was in éh 6pposite direction,
‘Wes it inn the resr of his house? A, It was in the
g 55th eet house.,

Was it it or it? A, It was bslow 1it.

ilow many houses? was towards 10th Avenus, I guess six

houses.
Did you gmet that knife?
You gmot upon the roof? upon thae roofl.,

Did you

Wwhat kind of = knife knife with

-~

& desr-horn handle.

Is that the knife you got? 7 sir, thet is the knifo.
¥vhat did youw do with th&at knife? I gave ths knife t©©
officer Smith <nd he took charge r that.
vou 4aid not sea £ mfteyr that®

time I have seen iL.

Did yveou examine the blade? A

Which blasde 4did you examine?

Did vou Tind anyvthing on it?

‘see,

Tothing but rust? A, Yes, sir.
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o cross-examination.

o, & witness c=lled on behalf of

ple, being duly SWOIrIl, tegtiitied as Tollows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION by

What pracinct &re ¥ ; A, The T1itl

were you with the officer, Officer Carlisy?

Wwhen he was looking this knife? A. Yes, sir.
cake chayrae * the knife? ' ves, sir.

Ea S,

+the knife

When you PR = Lo the suat . 1 A. Yes, sir.
Thnt wes s ~8t you S8aw it brousiit

Plhat 3 the last I saw

souw have zany tzalk withh the d=2fendant ahout this case?

A, o, siv.,

1o cross-~examination.

s BE P Il s ¢ HURR, & witness called on pehall of the
People, being duly sworn, taestified as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINAT 10T by M1, Davis

~
.

Q. Whevre do you irive? A, To. 510 West 49th Streat.
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vou live thers on the 4th of October, 18917

Charlss Schuri, the deceased mentioned in this

on? - A. Yes, sir, he was my son.
\"-)'h:en' 4id you l&. gt see your son @liveae? A, AL
went out, Sunday, Ociober 4 th.
Yhhen he went oul? ves, sir.
4+, 18917 A. Yes, sir.

saw him vhere was he? A, He was
Yhen you ok alter that Sunday
was nev I was the nhospital.
Did vou ses ! 551 hospite
Youw saw im
What hospits ., Roosevalt
Wwhen did vou ses him there?
Was he lying dead thent? Al
You could not talk with Lim?
lie w&is_ unconse ious? A, Yas,
le could not spsak Lo you¥ Al not speak.

Did wou speak to nim? A, o, sir.

anything ot all to him when yow got to his be ae

I gsaw I can't speak to him.
could not speak to him? Yaes, Sir.,
After you saw nim ot the hospital where did your s8e

A. He was brousht home.
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Ygu went to the Rouseveltl Hfospite .and gaw him there at
o'clock at night? A. 25,

when was he brought home to your house? AL

ing, the 6th.

And wess burisd when A, On Wednesday, the 5 I fuess.

Yhaern o S&EW 2+ the hospital 4did youw ses any wound on hvis
Bl .

182

Whare
The right
‘side

o ciross-examination.

H O W ARD . . v I, O R, = witness called on bens 1l of
the Psople, being duly sSWOrn, testifisd as Tolliows:
DIRECT EXAMIWNATION by dr. Davis,
Are you & physicizn sd surse on?
Are you attached to the Roosevelt ilospitge
Onn October 4th, 1891, were rou che ra?

Did you rec2ive & czll For the ambulance to .50 to West 3b5th

Street between 9th and 10th Avenues? A, I aid.

Did you go there? A. VYes, sir,
.

ot time did you get there? A, About 10 o'elock.

Did you Find a man wvounded stnzyre? A, Yes, siv, T found a
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man wounded there.
Wherezbouts was he 1lying? A, ¥With hisg head on the sidewalk.
" What part of the block? A. It wag @& little ways Ifrom 10th
Avenue ,

About how ar? A. Mot more than

shiould think.

Oon the south side? A. VYes, sir.

Did vowu examine his wound then to gee how he woundasd?

A I 4aid.

whet 4id yvou Tinde The v was & wound on

of hig forehead, ;oing down through the bone

About what localilty? A. There (indicating).

Was that an inc ised wound or otherwises A. An incised
wound .

Going through the bone? A, VYes, ir.

And int -3 cavity of the skull? A. VYVes, sir.

Was i ueh & wound as could have been mode by the blede of
that knife? A, It was,

Where did vou take him to?% A. To Roosevelt Hospital,

Did he subsequently dies at the Roosevelt Hospital?

giyr.,

When 4id he die?® A, On October 5th,

From your sxamination of the wound are you a&ble to state

the cause of death was? A. From the examination of the
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and his symptoms, I think so.
What was the cause of death? A. Picbebly comprassion of the
brzin from hoemorrhage .
Haemorrhasge caused by what -- that incised wound?
sir, I 3 that is my idea.
Under what nems was thst person whom you have de scribed a2d-
mitted to the hospital? A. Chairles Schuyr.
And of what & A, I don't know, sorewhere batween 20 and
50, about 20
About what height? . lied 2 gl i six peyvhzps
or @ight.
what weight should you 4 A, One nhundxed and
pounds, roushly.
An inquest was subsequently 1 on that boedy?
know =nything zbout it, AT hbaelicve.,
Ry the Court:
Q. vas thers on auat v in the hospital?
S lieve,
Q. You wera not thexyc Al
Q. Do you know who mzde the
CROSS-EXALINATION by lr. Sanger.
Q. " Could that wound vhich you saw have bsen nmede by some sharp
substance besides & knife? A. I should think it might hzve

besan.
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By the Court:

-

Q.

Q. And

A, Ordinarily, ve

S 2>
Sanger:

wound mishit have

knife®? A T

A sharp stong might

[
duly swoi'n, te

IMTATION by .

Edson, you &

[ERag ]

#& chemist

I

you prroduce

When 4id you yeceive

A." I »2ceived it n &

the District Attorney'!

instructions?

" Did you mzke an examination of the

4id, sir.

"Whnat 4id you Find?

stzins from blood,

It was what physicians call

an incised wound is

have

st

this knife

it

Al

containing
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an incised wound?

made by sone sharp cutt

sir.

been made by some shalpd subs bance he-

tnink

G606,

made it? A

witness called con hehalf of the

ified os Ffollows:

Devis.

phyvsicizn and surgeon?

this mornins in Court? A

and from whom 4did you receive

it

sealed envelope from & messanser Ifrom

s office, October 19th, 1891.

To examnine it Tor bhlood stains.

blade of the knife? A,

I found on the blade of the knife

& corpuscles coryresponding to
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" thoge found in human blood.

CROSS-EXAMINATION by Mr. Sanger.

Q. Are you prepavyed to state that the stains which you found on
that blade might not have been stains other than the stains
of human blood? A, Mo, sir, I am nct prepared to stats.
The stazins might been the stazins of something besides
stains of human blood? A, They might have bheen stains pos-—
sibly from soms other kind of blood.

the Court:
You mean by that that the stzains Were'blood, We 13
A. Yes, sir.
¥hae ther it was the bhileoed of an animal or the
being you cannot stace® A, I can state that
to the stains of huwnan blood.
The blood of soms snimals and of hwman heings is pr2tty much
alike ? A. Yes, sir, so close that & mian would not be
1
ified in swearing to @« distinction he tween them,

iy, Sangai:

Did you examine sny ophar than the one blads you are now
testifying about? A, I only examined the large blade.

Wy didn't you examine the other blades? A, Well, I thousght
that the examination of the large blade was sulfTicient Tor
the puwi-pose.,

You were only instructed to examine the large blade?




sir,

I was instructed to axXxamine

And having found it on one blzade

A, Yes

X4 , sir.

vou confined yowr examination to

sir.

Do you know how long: the stains

time you examined it?

vou o not? A. K=

They might have bgan

vou cannot

PR
state

that had bsen thers 2

siy, I cannot stat

2.

By a Juror:

Q. Would stains of ten

pressiocn upon the blade by rust

=z longer period? A, It would he

amined blood stains that wsre

cained corpuscles from theam.

thhe Court:
"ff the blood was fresh

A
Mr .

Yes, sir, if it
Sanger:

“wWhen did you make that

weEs

had

SOMe

fay Aayvs T

or celeven days make

or

fiva

examinst ion?
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thhe kxnife for blood.

thaoat satisfied you?

the lergee blade?

hbeen on ade at the

, Might

Preslh stains

om v owur examins tion?

s more serious im-

inything than it would for

api o do SO. T heve oxX-

or six vears old and ob-

yvou could distincuish

a few days old.

A. I mzde the 2 xaminsg -




POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL

tion dur ing the wsek following October 19th.

By Mr., Davis:

Q.

Is that the envelope which was sealed?

opzned that and sealed the znve lope.

It is the envelope in which .the knife wasg sealed?

six

The one which you now hold in your hande® A, Yesg, sir.
The knife was marked People's T¥hibit Ho. 1

for identilfication.

The envelope was marked People's HRxhiibit XNo.

for identification.

T. WwWE S T O I, a witness called on behalf of

the Pecple, bheing duly sworn, testified =s Follows:

DIRECT EBEXAMIMNATION by M1, Davis.

Are you a Coroneir's physician® A.
Did you make ithe autopsy upon the body of Charles Schuri st

the Roosevelt llospital during last October? A. I aid.

On what date? A. I think on the 5th,

The 5th of Octobeyr, 1891° A. VYes, sir,
Just look at this paper which I show you, and state whether
that is the inquisition and the result of the asutopsy? A, Yeés

sir.

’Can you state the date now? On the 5th, at 10 -o'clock in
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the evening.
At Roosevelt Hospital®? A, Yes, sir.
will vou state the result of that autopsy? A, On the yight
side of the head, on a level with the top of the right esnr,
one inch from the front of it, was a woundid three quarters of
an inch in length, and extending in & direction slightly
dovnward and forward over the left sye; tihiere waos & super-—
pruise =bout the size of & silver quarter of & 4dolloy-—-
approximaite size -- the wound which I will describe pzno-—
trated the skull by & compound fractwes, about half an inch
in length and about one-sighth of an inch in width,g it also
entered the brain throush what is known as the temporal sphe-
neidal lobe of the right hemispheres; entered what is known
the right latoral venitxicle. This cavity contained a
clot of blood and thers was also & clot of blood &t the
brain. The re was soms softening of the brain
wt the right ventricle. The other organs of the body
were in a normal healthy condition.
Vnat was the cause of that man's deatht? A. Iis death was
czused by laceration and compression of the brain from the
stab wound which has been described.
An inc ised stab wound? A. Yes, sir.

Could that wound have been made by the blade of the knife

"whieh I now show you, People's Lxhibit 1 Tor identificastion?
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A. Ves, sir, it could have been made with that knife,
CROSS-EXAMIMATION by Lr. Sangeir .
Q. Could it have been made by any othei+ substance besides that
knife, any other sharp substance? Al It could hzve bbean -—-
iP it was made it could have been made only by @n instrum2nt
of that character.
gRxkKhAx® : i
“Would not & sherp stone make & wound of that charsacter? A lio,
sir.

Will you tell mo ; © that fracturs? A, The Lracture
wae from a heldl phaee quarters of an dineh in length.

In length®

That is @cross the outside A, TYes,

Extending on the Torehesnd towards the ave? . IPron about
the point here in front of the esar slightly downward and £ or -
waxrd.

That would bs how much in length, an inch or two?

si; my notes say it was thres gquarters of =n i

on the skin -- it was three quarters of an inceh in lensth.

By the Court:

Q. ANd thaet was downward and slightly T
that was the direction of the cut.

Q. Through the bone? A, VYes, g throush the bone
substance of the byrain.

3y M, Sanger:

Q. Do you c&ll that a compound Tracture?




that fracture have been occasioned by

r

A T
Ii. DO,

substance?
Soms sheayp protruding

You don't mean to say

upon some

2 similayr charvactaer? Al

You would not he

-t :;f

liave he could,

any suach condition.

4.

[

ol Court:

b3
<o

Q. If knife, & sharp knife

and & man Tell on it wiih

penstrated into hiis head

A, siy.

Q. It could not bhe

By M. Sanger:

Q. Trxmikx He might knock

=

round? A.

Yes, i1, ceirt

A D AL A, C R O

a
Ppl= , being duly swornmn,
DIRECT RHXAMIITATION by My, Da

Q

cinect.

substance?
positively

sharp protruding

could

I don't sesz

witness

testified

You &a&ye & police captain of what

! POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL

(=)

sii

A, Mo, sixr, it could not.

that & man could not &l

substancs and inflict an injuwy of

I don't believe nhe could.

not, under onth? A. I don't

o =

how he cowld ; can't imagine

4

chst vware neld in that way

knife

P
el

way?
:

it and inflict & similar

Y A

nly he micsht.

caxlled in behzlf of the Pso-

as follows:

vis,

precinct? A. The 1lth pre-
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You saw this defendant on the evening of the 4th of October,
189179 A, ilo, sir.
When did you first ses hime On the morning of the Hth.
Whe 12 A. In my office, he 20th precinct station house.
Did you talk with him at that time? . Yes, sir,
Before you had this conversation with the defendant did yvou

have in your possession the knife which I show you? A Yo,

you procead and stats wnat the conversation was? A, Ag
time I took the stalbement in wryiting. I can wrefer to

and tell.

he mekae

Did rvou yeduce

In his

You can refer to

it was made to ] : : % £ 511 Wost
Strest, state . SNV YL 4D ] Octobey 4th,
he

were walking along West 35th
side between 9 and 10th Avenues, having just »sturned £rom
Grow's brewery in West 2&8th Str-a‘et -—- wnen we s&w thres yvowuns

men standing in the strect alongside of a wagon. As we

passed one of them said, "YVou
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_Where are you goings?V I said in reply, "Go to hell%,
of them said in answeyr, YGo on, you
continued on towards my brother lerman's housé at 444 Wes<t
35th Stireet. Just &s we reached my brother's house & man
whom I afterwards leazrned wuas Charles Schury struck me with
his fist in ithe face and knocked me down. His Triend struck
‘my brother and assaulted him., I started to run away &nd the
man Schuri- followed me and ne knocking me down,
I then picked up & piece of rock with sharp sdges and struck
the szid Schur:r in the head with the same which I ill h=1d
in my hand. Schuryr then f21l1 down and i g s bhere.
‘I went in my broths»'s house. I went
‘house and took off my snd hune it on & & iy Lnat
when I went out the police would not know me ., I then went
out to my home and pot a ceoat and hat and then returned to my
brother's house and I was arrested.
Q. That is the statement that he made to you? A Yes, sir,
the morninms of the 5th of October prior to baing taken to
Police Court.
Py iy, Davis:
Q  What time? \.  About 9 o'clock, or &§.45.
Q.  Did vou have zny othey talk with him@xzzxsk prior to his being .

taken to the Police Court? A. HWo, sir.

Q. Did you have any afterwards? A i asked that the
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Magistrate remand the prisoner back to my custody until the
afternoon, When he was brougnt back ~~-—
Did he come back? A, VYes, sir; he was remanded back to the
station house and I then ned & conversation with him. is
statement corresponded to the statement he made in the morn-
ing with ittle variances and differences. He was taken to
Court and commitisd without bail to await the action of the
Coroneyr and the CGrand Jury.
Did you ses hiim again after thet? A q: - on Thursday .
Oct
Youwx Tirst . with him was on bkionday,
sir.
And yowy second talk was in the afterncon when hce came back?
A, Yes, sii.
The third was on Thursday, October 8th,

Whe re ? A. In the Tombs, city prison,

Had x& you &t that time seen this knife?

who have it to you? A. Officer Smith.

vou received it from officer Smitn® sir.,

will you state the conversation you had with the defendant,
the third one? A. I called at the Tombs city prison, accom-
panied by Roundsman James Campbell of the Tombs Court sgquad.
I asked the Warden if he would permit me to see the prisoney

lax Molze. I showed the prisoner this knife and asked £
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it was his. I told him that Trom inquiries I had made I
bacome satisfied that the injury had besn inflicted by a
knife instead of a stone. I told him that I hed found this
knife on the extension of & house in 34th Street almost in
the rear of his brother's house, at I hed reason to ho-
lieve that it was his knife, At he denied it and said
that ne had never geen the knife. Then I told kim that I
could gwERruk prrove v his sigter~in-lsaw that
that she had used it, 1 she had boryowved
that theirs could be no quastion about its be o is propegrty.
lle then admitited to mg —--

nlxe Sang';el": I object to uny further situtemant

the gmround that it was made under duress.
Cowrt:

You made no threats? A, Mo, sir.
vou made no thyreats to this man at the time he made thisf?
A Wo, siy, I wago particularly careful not tc 4o so.
Did you hold out any inducements to him? A. hI did say
him that I thought he ought to tell me the truth about
Is that 2all1°? A. Yes, sir. I said, "I don't want you
and tell me this is vour knife if it is not. X it is
knife I wish you would tell me so -~ I think there will hs n:,
difficu;ty';n showing by your sisgster-in-law that it is your

IknifeY. He went on to explain to me that it was his knife




and that he threw it away cn the night in question.
Objection cverruled. Exception.
.
z statement taksn down by you? A
we.s made divectly =t the tims -~- I wade it
and subsequently changed it to this pape .
i, Sanger: I cobject to ths

imony from that msmoranduam.

whst he said to you in the Tombs I ison withoutl
locking at that me morenswn? 3 1nve @lready statsd sbout
all that was said
lismve you siated all you wrecollsct iiim s&y ing

A, Yes, sir

Davis:

Was there anything said by nhim as to whethsa

used that knife on the night of Ociobasy 4ih,

aid not make thaet admission. e said it was & k I ad
onn that occasion, and that he threw 1t away 28 he was going

ovey the fence. He said that wes a knife he had, but I have
not any recollection of his heving said he used it., liie zd-

mitted it was his knife.

And that he threw it away? A, Yas, sirr,

Over the fence? A. As he was geing over the fence.
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"Did youw have any further conversation im?
there was some conversation &s to e 1@ on of
cutset that knife.
A, e Aid nowu
Yas, sir; < R [ said thet
would be liable to et intc trouble. I t nim I thousht

ougsiht te the truth, as I could show by s sistar-in-

e finally savs "Yes, g the

thyrew it awsy 3 aven-—
the aflroy the time he was going over the feznce.
Hlave you had sny £ he conversation with him =t =@ Ho
siv.,
Did wou bying that knife ~s District Attorney's office?
A. Yes, sir.
Wnom 4id Tivg A . Shalby.
the Grand Jury? A. Yeos, sir, by direc-—
thi District Attorney.
MM, Davi I : v svidence .
The Court:
bpefore the knife
iy Sangeir :
Did you know Charles Schuvyr, the deceased? A, o, sir.
The Couyrt: vou can cress—examine in reference

the knife. I will =z=dmit the knife unlsss some =




thing comes out

my doins so.
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on your crosgs-—-examination to prevent

told this defendsnt thot he had betitsar aimit

bacause you could

knife was his I wo

Drove it on hhim@?

wuld like him

the knife was not his I didn't want

wou tell him vyou ¢
sir,
s wall
Howr 2 A in conv
he adn : he knife was
prison ten minutes, I pos
thres or Touwuryr minutes hbe
the truth.?
fAnd aeftesry &all this persua
ae to your bsing .ble toO
gaid it was? A. I told
his krnife, that she often
an I would have no aiffi

e Banmer

knife in evidenc

The GCourt:

Fxception,

ocull prova it

odmit it to wou?
arsation with the defendant
his? \ re > I was
sibly

(i) od

sion on yeur payht, sand the statement
hered ove the knifs on him he final 1
him his sister-in-lsay said it

used it and baeriowed it

culty i t

e .
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The knife refarred to was marked in evidence as
People's Exhibit ilo. 1 of this date.
The Court admonished the jury, calling the ir
Attention to Section 415 of the Code of Crtininsld

Procedure, and a recess until £ o'cleelk P,

A S T
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ATt ernoon Sessione

EXAMINATION OF CAPTAIN ADAM A. CROSS, cont inued:

CROSS EXAMINED BY MR, SANGER:
Q ‘ I unérstood you t0 say before reccess
Chearles Shore, thhe Qeoccased? A Wo, sir,
Q@ Mever had had moet him before? A Hot tomy knowlsdge,
pose I have sgen him but not to know him.

"And knew nothing about 1 im? A o ,s i I know any—
) : 2 ) M

thing about him.
Knew nothing ~ood about him? Motiding zood.
Knew nothing b'ad about I in?

THE COURT: That won't do, you can put the
guesticn, if he knew this man, knew his general re’ﬁii’“ta—
tion for peace and gquietness.

Were you acquainted with Shore's general reputat ion Ffor peace
and quietness? A No,sir, T didn't know him at all.
I mean were you aequainted with hisreputation for peace and

quietness? A No,sir. .
You were going on t 0o maks some statement, and I supposed

that what yoi wer: golng 0 say hmd saunething in conneet icn
with his reputat ion, either as an oxnderly or disorderly'";iér"—

son?

THRE COURD: He says he doesn't know what his repu- :




tat ion is.
Donet know of° our own knowledge, about Lhat? A
Had vou ever met the witness Marion Hatehh before?
not Lo my knowledge.
Tlave voi ever heard of him? A 1o, 3irTe Mot by W nae.
nama? 3 Ly Nn0r Dy any othsy name.
tliz witness Hey¥ Lihi s morning?
witness Georss
Th e we : had an ex iy
and Minith Ave.,
know 1 ka.
Did yxi ever te e derondans sShiat sane ol this
including Shore nad bexd nothering yox for'a lon’s
A I 4Aid tiat thwere nad been omplaint s
Strect, and I »yvesiac
Tany up thaere, wes n't there, Xnowvn &8
Yes ,siv, and they e 4 given us sane traaible.
sreat deal of iroibhl ef?

officers on “thae post to make

u

RE DIRECT REXAMINAT I BY MR. DAVIS:

Q Neither HWateh nor Fox nor shore, to your knowledze was ensaged

with this gang, as it is charactorized by the defl endant's

RIS
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counsel? A I daidn't know who they were.

Q 'How long had you been there in that precinct? A W¥ell, I haa
been there -- was thisin November?

0 This was in October? A I had besn there nearly a vear.

Q "Mearly a veiaw,than? A But those complaints hed only re-
cently came in, they camme in just previouns to this alterca-

T pion.

Q "Yow, you saw the defendant for the first time on the merning
of the Bth, is 4he A Yes ,give.

Q At that time were ¢ any masr ks
oy wands? A si», not that I

To,sir.

g Mone that yoxx saw?

RE CORSS EX/ Y MR SAITGTE
Q,_A Did you sxamine his body fox S ; e of discovering;_.a"v_;rg{-._“
bruiscs or wounds? No,sir, not his body, but I dian't
see anytning on hisg FTace.
"You didn't exqnine any portion of lhig body for the purm»se of

aseertaining whether he had beern wounded? A No,airve

BY MR, DAVIS:
G},_' Did he canplain of any?
Objected to as immsterial, irrelevarnt.
BY "i’HE GCOURY 3

Q

I

Did you Iear nhim say anything about being hurt ox woun ded?




A I have no recollect ion
oy canplained of ite.

BY MR. SANGER:

Q

In voar statement made Lo

Stable Garng that

cinet, dA0o yo1 remember t

“didn't killd

vou for gui
You won't

with rmeference

hotlering you Tor

having said anything of

BY COURT ¢

T2

Q You woald not be likely ¢

think so0.

BY MR. SANGER:

Q As matter of Fact

e

Cthat were

your say had

o say 1t,

there were gangs in

POOR QUALITY
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of his having refermwed Lo it at all

defendont with roefastence to this

botrering vour in that pre-

im that vor were sorry he

they ha & been bothering

thiem as

I daon't reollect it.

no recollection of

waxrld yaa? A

No,X¥ dou't

that ne ighborihwocod

Fiving yvyoa a good deal of troable?

Objected to.

THE
tyrying

Defendant

COURT :

Object ion sustaine d. we are

the neighborhood nowe.

BRCBP LS.
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a
BEDWARD J. S HTE L B as a witness on e halid of the

test ifies as fallows:

People,

DIREOT BXARMLITAT TOWT
Q@ You are enployed ia Lhs » P iee? A Yes

have yau been theve?

BY Wil: COHRY:
. ober? A Yes 811

Q  You were Liere in OJct

BY MBe DAVIS:
Q Look at People's ixhiibit 1, this knife, did vou weceive that
nDigbrict Attoriney? F2 8 Ag i'ar as I recallect, I
iy fran Gapie. (ross, in tke District Attorney’s of-

voar Ao with the kniife when you recel ved 1i+c? A I

+ r.Cyrus Midsam, of the Board of

r

Lo examine as ©wo wvwhether ithare was

it, and reroxt to the Distyiecet Ab-

nding it an envaelope? A

And seal Tl env lope?
e ndwr 1L ing®? A Yes ,S1i1

Address i yory oW h
Tieation, is thaek dhe

Look at People roxr ident:
A That is the envelope

in which vou enclosed 1t%

envalope

and that is my bandwriting on it.




POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL

R T T Ly

6/

Envelope offered in evidencc.

Admitited and marked Exhibitg ¥ , F Lthis dates

PROPLE REST.

LR o SAI-T_GER: Does vour Honor think that there

evidence Lo compell the defendant ©o o into
TIE COIRT:

MR, SAWGIER o he Juirye.

HEEM AN M OL 2 B, sworn as a wiitness on behall of the de=-
fence, testifies as Tdllows:
DIRECT EXAMINAT IOW BY'MR. SANGIR @
§ Myv.Nolze, do you understand English? A Yes ,sir.
The Defendant is your brother? A Yes, sir.
Do yar remenbdber the night of October 4th,1891? A Yes ,sirv.
Were vou with your Wrother than sev ening? A VYes ,3ivre.

Do vou vemenber being in a saloon in that neighbovrhood that '

Tevening? A Wo, not in the neighbo rhood exactly.

Just state what occurred that evening between you and vyoay

brother first? A When we went in the Brewery Tivst off? .
|

vas? A It was about six o'cleocky
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wvas in tnie brewery iee

Q You were a drriver, weren't wvent up

to 49th Stweet viltere L deliver bhecr broithae
>

e

0 sl

Max, and we < thaore and hi12d a coapl e of

and after that the saloon keeper asked me i
by foxr hin, he was shoyrt of haexr
evoning -— so I said, Yes, and I took my by cther
alonz and we went down and I ten guart ers oi bser on
the wagon and brougsght 1t uzp, and I put the horses down in ’clﬁe
stable azaine. “hen ¥ started onmy way hane, Lt was about

JCA

e 4 3
EST nine

youiy bhrothiar F0 wit R . ¥Yesd 48iy —we- and thén I
another breoeihar in 351 Streei, an cldest brother of mine;
e keeps a cisar stove there, We are not Triendly with him,

and when we passed his store my brother made ths remark and

said, tnat Se~ T v ig not worthy that we talk to hiimg
bsecause we are not friendly with iiim.
BY MR, SANGER:

8 Meaning yoay cther by oithce? A Thet cldest brother of ours..

BY THE COURT:

Q "He called Four brother " A Yes,sir ---
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" Then I passed 414, there is a stahle tlhore

Y

ing in front oi the doow, zand this man Hateh

~hind that vasgon and he hezard whien my bhrother i hi worg,

BY MR. SANIGER:
Q Did vour brotlhier pick '1p ' a stone before that and throw it to-

wards the ciger dealer's store? A Mo, six, Hateh came upio

¢ e

4

him or to us, and said, *Who are you calling & SEGTNJ",P S LA
and my broihe picred up a stare, and says, this is the man
and tiwrew ithe stone in front of my other bro-thev_";!s st ofea
4 NWo, the same side of the
straec t, 1 Ot thie direcet ion of Hatehh at alle
BY 9HE COURD:
Q@ Then your hbroihor threw Zhe stome alter his brother's window?
A MMear the window, in Tfrart of the window.
BY MR, SAM:IER:
Q uUnder the A Yes ,sir, and then we +turned away, and
Hatel . , and we walke2d down Lo the haise where I li.ve_.
LF o came un Lo say and said "What do yvar mean', yva
Said v didn*t mean him? A Yes, that is so.
Dia you tell patech wip yor did mean? A Yes y,siv.
Wh'at aid you tell him? A I told him we meant the eldest
brother o ours; and I told him sane reasoms, 00, Then ws

‘stood in front of the docoyr vhere I lived, ¥Noe.444.
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Q Then, 4id yor go

Pran where Tlatelhh was standing dovmnm t orards

L0th Averniae? A Yes ,sir.

Q In tke direction of where yoar cwn house was?
Q And whai was thoe numbor of yarr hoaage 9
"@o on and state wWiav occurred? Then, wz
<) ®

at onee woe woere talking tomether , me and
my brotier,

man woie ho-—

those tiaw oy o

us and SHOW ¥ o1 Who yvoi call oo See
and it was aboui fouw o e
Tive FaE O Veie 7
Who ot ool G ol me.
Whio welzs?

wat I odida't

kKnow tha oiner

3 Y@es 35l r.

A Toz aind S0 re.

Shiore¥

ynial naspoened Lo knocked us boitlh down, II
up and piclzed wp ran toward ths doviy I
ran wpstairs and wiriss Lhat Uane my b rouviiae iy
vhat's all I scen avdout it

After yor Hot upsyow sy yoi were knoeked down by thesse

rmen? A Yes ,sire

Aft e yoa 5ot ap and went avay what did the two men do who
were wpon ygut A Thoy warn toward wiere my

-
L

brotlhier wase




10

Q And you tried to get inito the hoage?

TIE GCOURT: Let him tell it

Q Tell tle story? A And I went into

3

—

ee zsnyvbhing else of it,

Youy bhio th ey

Q

A

Yes . sive.

Your broithea ran after you, wWihab

A Yo,

sS@ anyt INng mois.

AfTery yaoa were tThrovn down yowu 06 up

hoige?

Then yvoa who weye on yor

S Shoye was hitting my broether €linree o

At fell dow

er

CAnd the hmase?

Dia see vaar hye thiar v

awa vy

Wy arn's he? A

vere at nin vhier? A

whey strike him? A Welly I

TR COURT: Whiat did you sae

A

I mseen thie man Shoi.:e hi Lt e Jidme.

~—~ -

Ry 'HE

GOURT 2

Q ' This .dead man? A

Yes ,s81ir.

and my brother ran

ey you o follow you intco

e

CL YL

foay

only
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A Yes ;sire.

himgelf,

vhie house 3L

it aits

Lhe hous

Lthien happened,

into the

aznd ran towmrds the

tovards yoir brothar?

vinas , and my brota

he couldn'te.

They were 211 o0k hine

Ves , give

seen -—-—-

e foar men Aao%?
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You saw nin hit your br oth e thiree or fair times?

And then you ran into the hoise? A Yes ,8ivre

by

ik #7057

,f Q@ Anda yox_didn't see anything elpe? " A No,sir.
BY MR. SAIGIR:

Q You had never seen those men bef ore,

'Q You had seen themf? A Yes ,sire
Who wevre tie y?¥ A One man I didn't know at all,
Hat chi,Shore and Foxs, I knoew +hem Fellows For vearse. They him
out in what staldlse whertCe

thet where the people that are called the Steble Gang
e in the habit of cc;ning?

Objectod ©Oe Object ionn sustained.

THRE WIVIIESS: Hot exectly thate.

You never :lave bsen avrested hefore , have voa?’ A Wo,zﬁ;i Yo
Q After this aifair, wers you tlen aswres L ed? A Yes, sire
Q WVherse Aid they talks you? : she T omb s.
BY THE COURTS
'@ Dran't thoy take yar che station noase, Lirst? A Yes ,sir
BY MR. SANG
Q They took you to the Stai ion louse? A Yes ,sir,Jefferson
T Marketb o
Q Anda fram there they towk yox to the Tombs? A Yes ,sire.
Q  And fram there what did they do Lo you? A The Tombs I8y

put me in tlie Tombs, afier Jeffersan Markete.




£
How lon: i 3 ; Tombhs? A ez Thirec weeké.
And then £ They took rﬁcz to the House of Deten-
v ion.
How long d they keep yoa there? A Tive montlhis.
Did you hiave a wife living at the (ime yoca were put in the
House of Detention? A Ves ,s8ir.
BY THE COURT ! —w-== What sbout ite
MR. SANMGER: I want to sthow ihat tidis man vas Kept
of Detention for five months, and his wife
and eiil d died in Lhie meani Inc.
TIDE COHRT : I will exclude it.
Qg When did yvoa got out of the House of Bemmk Detent ion, Mr.,Nolze?
A The 24th of larcl:.
o Marcecihh, thids vear? A Yes ,sive.
G088 BXAMIITAY I0IT BY Mile DAVIS:E
Q T : ; yoar brother here, and yvou and vour brother win kebt
st ore have the same mothear? A Yes ,siy.
Is she living now? A Yes ,si 1%
And wnat were the words t:at verr brother used
with reference 10 the onge wo keeps the cigar

N7y
. 0 <™ 4o, ¢ o
A He says he is8 a Sgre &7 ¢ VoAt

What else did he sav? A That he is not worth to talk o,

that's 2ll.

That he is not worth talkinzg ©to? A

ERUS N




| POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL

ya
AF
And was that saida loud onough f£o 20 hear? A Oh,ves.

Then your brotha pi st one?

¥ow big a stome Was it% About a stone like my £igt .

TaAkout =s big as vouw i A Yes ,sir.

Cerour fist up v ¥ v{ Whe witness d4d0as s0) .

atda he? A Yes ,sits.

divect ion in whieh: your brot her's store was?® A Yes,

trrow it bhefoxre oF Ther he us thig exnression?

C Y

avay alier?

Hatehn eams out Tiwys and 58 ked who

1 ho so

o

savs, this is the man we

meso, N, stone in front of oy b wother's StEEe

" Had e stonge & wle noime he called

A Ho,sir, exrke kR ko pre e

e picked 1t afh erwards A Tos ,sire

Mhen he hhvew 19

Vnae-ae di

stvack in front of the doo v,

actl vy in frant & unno NAOYe

Q How far eway

YOS T OOURY 2
Yoy
0, Was  brother

Q He wasn't thoere at not, he was sitting in-

‘sids , thiae QWY was Op BXe
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Didn't yor shout this out loud enough I Lol it?
A I carldn'’s ssy exactly, it was two ¥y fran niMe
Q Wnen ryor czlled out sameitiving at him?
BY MR. DAVIS:

'R How far away was your brother when he threw

£hé windows of your othier brother's stove?

from of 3 1 vl storve is 4310.
Q e ¢ side? A On the same mides.
T Wne re . v oury brothior geb et one? 5 He
o R

- X o

the sidewalXk.

warnt down the

of beer had yvou drarnk that

A About tvelve,
that.
Tyelive? A A1) day, Trom the morming to ninghit,
about alil.
voa take tle last gless of beer before y_c.uz" brother
threw . the 8t one? A Welil, about a half hour before.
Where were you then? A Up in 49th Street.
With yoar x other? A Wi "c..l'x my brother.

Did he drink with yoa? A He drank with me , yes,sire
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How many bes s aAid var drink thoeve? L o tiiree thares.
About what imc? A Thet i1 bevween 7 anc ofeclock
vou drark sbout A Yes ,s5ir.
i to got the beer.
o'elock, how marmy beers |y and
T obhar dr ink? %N : A : 1 am'y
KnGe
Well, ' t s to mggollect? A& Durimis Lho time we were
L hoere in thot g2aloon we nad about tlwee 2lasses O £ beere
v ven o'clook in vhe evaening
aveniriz, hetween Lhose TWO
LA reRy And your bhrothar
Tevts o bout all, Live
cmen seven and ai Tt o'cloek? A
nefore vou et Hatenhif how meany did woaa
w ink 9 £, & v T var that,
romembasy exactly ¢ & ¥ tle beews I &Granke.
A pine olelock, how many do yor thnk
vour broitiwcy drarvk?-- As near as v eun get te it, T
wanih you L0 state exactli V. A Maybe oo more, that's

t
aile

TP at makes Loar, ; A It makes
NG yail mearn to sy tamit alier seven o "clock, Lthe *ime when
vozr Ffirst met Fateh,you and yvour brother had only drank about

Four glasses of hee r? A Maybe we drank beer bef ore saven’

o'eloecic.

Py

Ak S WP Rt P sty -
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any

ot afier sevens A, > 2y We aidn't dr ink

more than hbout four

iJow, boeitween six and seven, MOV maiy fEassaes of baer a4id ro

. - S . L
and yorr broithey dr ink? s I aom't exactly how many booers I
drank, I do't know.

One clazss betweoen and seven in the everninns? A HMaybe

I Aidn't dxink any beer at all, I wms on the car going ups

then, axumyxEayxixmx I met a Priend on tik
and I was tallkines with o Triend of mineo

-

Pove I weni in the saloone.

How, tale twelve © ;. froan twelve o'clock down to the

< dIme you mct Iia heers Gid y oz

and yoir hrother
dr ink? A Pron twe S e o fouy o'clock L was sleeping,
Cphen Ioweant oovnn o b bhrewery arnd e My horses.

‘e w0 sin, how many did o; ar ink? A I arark
vione at 211 thern, thers was no baoer 5 in the hrowery.
Tlhey aom't work gundasys.
vou moan to say yor Aidn't drink any becr from twe ive Lo 3ix?

4 .
A No, s ir.

Ik

o w man: befPore +hiat &id yoi de ink? A Woell, in the morning

I pot maybe, six ¢ g isht.
Thar all t ot day fran the beginning * e day down to tle
time 'you met Hateh, vou had drank peri:aps ten or welve beevra?

\
X Yes ,sire.
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Was your brother with vyou most of ithe time? A. No, only

after seven o'2lock.

After seven o'clock? A, Yes sir.

¥ou draik throce with him after seven o'clock? A. Three or
four.

Whersabouts did you get those? A, Un in 49th =treet.
Did vou drigs any whicskey that day® A. No sir.

Did vour brother, in your presance? A, Not that I know of,
the 1ime he was wiith me.

At the time vour 3 nicks=d up that

what under ithec ree of liquor? AL

yes,

And were vou? A, Mo sir.

You wers perTiectly sober? A. I was scher.

And yvour brother was a | under the inflmence of the
peer, if that abeout ri A. Yes sirm

And where did 3 Sta horses? A. Down in 28th
Stre«t, West = inn the Brewery.

And you liwve d i 3 A, Yes sir,

liow long had ycu 1 A, I lived there for the
1ast eight years.
And I supvose in the evenings yoi used to o out to the

street, didnt you? A
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You did noi¥ A. Ve I usaed to go out in

borhood therec.

In Summer evenings 2 A.

I would o to wortk ihree o' clock
in the momirg, and I 2m glad when I get home six, and I

go to bed.
Did vour brother live there? A, ¥o ST

Wnere did vour brother A e ltived wiith his

in 49th Street, 511,

How mmeh do veu weigh? A. About 175 pounds.

How tall are you? A, THiwve feet eighl inches.

How mmiech does vour brother weigh? AL I conld

noi tell yvou
exactly what he weighg, I never heard mich about it.
Now exactly, but have you gver heard of his beiig weighed?

About 180, 185, something like thatl

How tell? A. Five feet eleven inches, soaethiig like that.
lle is taller than vou, isnt he? A. Yes s=ir.

Now, when you went down ¥ou say four peonle cane after vou?

Three or four, I could rnot exactly say, but there was four

men &t us, I dont know if that man, that one man had ex-

actly something to do with it or if he only was mixed

in it

You are sure there were three? A I am sure there were

three, yves, becamse I know those three, the other fellow
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I didiit koow, sees.

o
And there were no cocther 3 arowutd there at
were there? A, Fhat is

Thore were neo oiher

¥o, I didnt see any

There wae ncocbody with vo herz My brother.

Youn and vouar

somethinng to do with 11?2 Al

Wnat was t! fivrst Lhing that was done by these men when
they came up, - by Maltch, for instanee? A. We were standing
in front of the door locking towatd 10th Avenue, and they
came from 9th Averme, =znd Hatch hellered ont, ''X will

show you whoe wou eall a ''"Sen of a hiteh'', and the
tackling begen. They knocked us down and T pot

up mv hat aid ran toward the house.

Tow were knocied doun? A. Yes siT.

Who knocked von dowi? A, Iateh.

knocked von down? A. I could not

net say exactly.
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Qe You dornt know wheiher Hatch

Hatoh was right behind me, T turned

ses Halch.

Q. He wus the only one vou saw at thai tie?

another strance man, a mean Lodidit know,

ol 2 WIS,

Pange maan doi ns wvhen yon

st aadd 1y frogtl of me there.

Did 2 IS i ; I didnt

he o

down, you received more tha: one Hiow, T

vou fell,

one? A, I

raeccived two or o:€.

Q. Wheres did that blow hit vonu? A In the

. Behind in the neclk? 5 sir.

[ ifow o vou know that cave you that?

he stutes hi.sel b hi mne.

at is the Ly way von koo A, Vel l,

I wonld say becanse 1 seen

Q. You saw him hitiing you? A. T
~2 N

hit me o couple of tines and kicked

i he

Q. e first blow I am talkiwng about, who

knoeked wou down?

aroix.d

did

20l d

saw him hitiing e

A. Becaure

anvd 1 conuld

A, There wWas

and then I seen

1ie

was
nittin g e,
v were throvan
me 1 he {ore Yol

vatl receive

not sa if

necik.

the other way

him hittiti o e,

agal n,

e too.

puve vou that first

e M

1
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Blow? A,

Did zou see him? A, I could not see from the back, I have
only got two eyes.

carnn you say it was llatch if von didnt see him,? A. He
in the back of me and the other fellow was in
i@ when 1L got

up.

it was (latch becauge you received a blow and
was right behiad yvou¥ A Ves sir.

far away was your brother fram you? A About f£i fteen.

fzet after that, when I

Wno

him at that time? A  Shur a#nd Fox.
They were fifiteen feetaway? A, vhen I goi up.

Wnen 10 £211 down®? A. Then he was right alo:gside of me.
wWno was? A, My Dbrother,

Your brother when yvyou f«11 downu? A. Yes sir.
the vime you weve sirtuck onr Lhe back, how far away
vour brother from vou? A. At the time I was struck

was aloijgside of me.

What did vyou ax€ean by soving he was iifteen feet away then‘?',
After I gol uwn.

Now, yeu mean to tell us that IHatch~you saw Hatch on the

stand? A. Yes sin

14

kmpeked you down? A

Hid veu a blow fy“:r_;_;gch
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Did vou fall flzt right down? A. On my hands and knees.

And theu:when vou were down that way, he hit you again?
I goi up firsl amnd picked up my hat, aund I goti a kick.
Who Licked vou? A. That was Halch.

You saw that? A, Yeg sir

Then did you staml up Lo hia? A, tio.

i. Wnat did vou do9 A. I picked up my hat and ran toward
the house, I was up on the stoop when I saw my brother
hitti ;g Schur.

G. Did vou allow Ilatch vou down and ito kior

2. 1 didnt want to have a £1g32 i, thhe neighborihooed.

Q. Did yoeu allow S i rooel you down and kick you wi tho-it
turning arod:d to deferd yourseli? A. I didnt want to
defs 1 m¥yself,

. You ran away? A. Yes siT,.

Q. Alid vou Ssaw all tlose people go for your brother? Al
sir, then ran towzrd @my booiher.

How many of them wenl over towsrd your brothers? A, X
sea; four of them, vihat is what I ean state.
The four wentil at vour bwm the 7 A, Yes.

What were they doirg tec him? A. I s=sen either Schur

“hitti:g aim --- ithat is, I didnt see hitiing him, they

| ran towurd him and as soon as Seiur f£ell down tihe others
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ran away.

When yowu rin you ran up the stoon? A. Yes sir,

Then you s

yvour broiher, is
right?

*H BT

heve a oludb

kuow, T could

W oad

dont thiik he had

Not thhat I

o

knovw.
You didut

H
$
t
i
{
i

et

VLR it Lt apie £

AL 1o,

A

A. No.

Al
altl.

Qr any club? A. Mo sir.

R

Or awyw zXimXs stoues? Al didnut see any, the only thiig--
Except this stone that your brother took up and fired at
your olher brother's store? A. Yo =sir.

]

i

i

|
1

0
H

Nothing at all? A. No sir.
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those four
all misned at
woader.

did you ihik that coilag to

vour broinher wnan they ran could not

Yeou saw ithe mcin who knooer £ vwosi d owd

towarus your brother, didit veu¥

w v
G S aw

all 1he oilhers Lhere'

Y01 Sew yvour broihe r defendi g ndoselr,

Yeo Sir.

At t hat were going

fer nim?

Have you any doubti abowut it?r AL Wetrl, he didutl hld anybody

Y e

didnt ask you that, you say you saw Lhose nen goi g over

to your brother, didid you? A. Yes sir,

e T

You saw the dirfficuliy he was i, didil you? Yes sirc.

You saw your breihevr was in Lroubler A, Yes

¢ Pour mai at him, didont you? A. Yes sir.
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Then you wore ruasicir @ the house at that
Yes 5i
Ton : : G NEL D Yo ore
Boar o ] 2 vour brother a.d i gonth
heln nia? 5 soonn as I was < + sladlrs—-----—
Wailt a nomen L-
LU GW .

e reardad gy

WOl QO e 3 v ~in? ! BTE W no time

t.

watit Lo Muwew, whether
ol in . houseE
into v TO OIS Y
rony
=
stood thrre and oy bro-

ove r the fé& ce and went

E@in t he other ward.

i

'fou went in the vard? A. Yes
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Then your brother ran in, didnt he? A, Yes sir.

Aid he junped over {he fence, into which vard? A, 448
Mext dupor? A. Yes sir,

Did you sec the knife then? A. I didint see any kuodrcfe.

Wnat did yowur brotner say to vou then before he Jjuwaped

over the rerze, not a word? A. I dont remamber anythiig.

Did it yecur brother say any thiag to you whea: he came iuto
tihe }"crd att er he Iy it thidls maen? A, I dot liow
anyihiig aboui cutting, or any talking, I didit know, I
dout renenber

You were i the yard and your brother cwae in th ere, he came
in tahere Tuindag, didnt he? A, Yes

He saw you, didnt he? A. lie did

What did he 5ay? A, Didiat say any thing at all.

Did he jump over the fence without saying a word? N That
was done too guiechk

He jumped over too quick?

THE COURr: Answer tha question, did he jump over
the faice withoul sSayirg anything to yon at a11?

Mot that I can remember.

Q. Did yuq £go aiter hixn? A. No sir.
Q. When he ot over in ihat Yard where did he go? A. I dont

know.
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Q. That was the last you saw of him? A. The last I saw of him

Annd where did you no? A. I we 4 upstairs,
camne and ar-~

Did the officer come am! arrest vou? ; lie

me

e, yes sir.

have any wownds or bruises about vour face? A.
the face, I had a litile swollen neck, that's all
cfficer tcok you? A Officer Keninedy.
You see Captiain Cross i the Station 'buse?
¢ll bim about the wound, didnt you tell
had been hit in 1he back of the head? A. I
him that I wag hit.

idyc tell him you had bezen hit in ithe back of the hedd?

D
Yes sir.

What did srou tell him? } him I was stirack

bakk of the head,

You pointed to the place, didnt yvou? A.
You said, ''The back of the head? A. Yes si
Dird you tell him who struck you? A. I did

Did you see vour brother aftier that? A. While I was in the

Station Hous e,

Now, vyou have seen t his knife before, haven't you, (Hand-

ing witness knife) A. No sir.

You never saw that before? A. No 5ir, I did not, hever,
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You dont know it? A, Wo sir

You never saw that in vour brother's npossessior®

You never saw vour wife using it? A. 10 sir.

You never saw vour wife using it peelig notatoes? A.llo
These men didnt have hold of vour brother, they were sim-

ply punching him, weren't they, and pounding him? A lo.

What do voumean? A. I only seen that Schur put ched him

LPunch ed himY A. That is all.

Didit have hold of him? A MNo sir, noi that I

liobody had hold of him, that you saw? A. Yes

Schur was simply pifiching him? A Yes sirc,

You saw vour brother strike Schr, did you? A Yes sir.

liow did he sirike him? A. Li¥e this (wilness i:xlicates

an outward blow)

Where did ithe blow s trike Schur?

A On the headd some place

A0on the head, then you saw Schur fall? A Fell down.

ANMNNIE LAUBEN SDORFER

s swom a5 a witness
on the part of the Defendant, testifies as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION, by MR. SANGER:.
Q. vh ere do you live? A. 444 West 35th Street.

Q. Where did vou live on the 4ith of October,18917 A

same place.
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Q. Is that the same house where Herman Molze was living with
his wife? A. Yes sir,

What rooms did they occupy? A. On the secord floor back.
Were ycuu living with your father? A. Yes sir.

What rooms did vour father o ccupy? A. The gromd gloor
The grouw.d fioor? A. Yes sir.

Front or rezx»? A. Front.

With the wi.dows fro pAng on 3Z5th Street? A. Yes sir.

Do you remember a 1little disturbance that oeccuped betweean
nine @id tenpo'elock o the evaniing of October 41h?

Yes sir.

Just t2ll the Jury where vou were at that time? A I was
looking out of the wirdow

Out of the wirdow of vour ap z> tmen t?

Into 35ih Street? A, Yes sir,

Just tell the Jury what vou saw? A. I was lookirg out of
the wisdow when ihe Nolze's came along and was speaking
and they were just saying ''Geod night'' when the four
fellows came aloig, one of them punched Herman Mol ze in the

. month and then they goi fighting and were rollirg around
on the sidewail and I ran away Ifrom the window.

Q. You say they got fightiog? A Yes sir.

Q. How many did ¥ou see come up there? A Four
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BY TIE COURT:

A. Herman Wolze.

Herman Wol ze was mmn ched by one of the mer? A, Yes sir.

NDid vou see what havpened to Herman Nolze after he was

struck? A. I seen him rt up the stairs

How many men were there at lerman Nolze at one time? A, Two

:' When Herman Bolze went in what did the two men do that

had bem striking him? A. Thg went up to Max Nolze

Then ran over to Max? A. Yes sir.

Did vou see what they did to Max? A. Be sir.

iDid vou see them have hold of Max? A.

No sir.

THE COURT: e sxrs she didnt see them do anything,

You pot frightened yvou say and ran away? A. I ran away
Where was Max when you were looking out of the wipndow? AL
e was lying on the sidewalk.

Q. Lying on the sidewalk? A. Yes sizt

Q. This Max Nolze, (indicati.g deferdant? A Yes sir.

-~

BY THE QOURT:

Q. Mar was lying on the sidewzlk? A.

BY MR. ESANGER:

Max was lying on the sidewalk and

They were all on top of him.
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They were on top of him? A. Yes sir
And =zt that tige you say vou got frichtiened and ran away?
Yes sirv.

That's all vycu saw? A. Yes

CROSI-EXAMINATION, by Mr.DAVIS:

Q'

You saw one of thesemen hit Herman Holze, didnt you? A.
Yes sir.
Aid Hermal was the man who was jud on tne stand? A.
Yes sir.
he struck him in the mouth, I thimk you said? A,
Yes sSirT.
How did he do ii, just strike out with his fist, hit
him in the mouth? A. Yes sir.
Did vou see whether his mouth bled? sir, it was
dark. )
And did he fall then? A, No sir.
He diant fal1l1? A. Wo sir.
Did vou see Herman when he first came up, before the other
':nen came? A. They came up alo:e and were talking at the
door.

You saw them then when  they came up? A. Yes sir.

The firsti blow that vyou sawv stiruck was struck in the mout h?

Yes siv.
B
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And Hetman received the blow? A Yes sir.
Do vou know who it was that gave him the blow? A. XNo sir.
And then did yvou ceontirme to look at them? A. They was
runni g ---
Ge Unotzd llerman ran away? A When Heman ran up stairs I
Ten away from the wi giow
Tou co ntinued to look at them w.til Herman ran away? A
Yes sitT.
And did Hetman rwn away as sooun as he got this strike
i the mouth? A. At the time they went up to him first
and they we refgi chting and then he ran away froaan them
and ra up the stairs,
The first thi:g you saw was a blow on Herman's mouth? A,
Yes sir.
One of those men gave it to him? A Yes sir
Then those men foucght with him? A Yes sir
What did they d0? A. Two of them went at hiax and two of
thanr went at Herman and they were rolling arowid on

the sidewonlk. '

vho was rolli g around the sidewalk? A All of them

All of then, was Her man down on the sidewalk? A. Yes sir.

Were they all) mixed up tomether? A, Yes siT,

Then Herman got away? A. Yes sir.
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And vwhen lerman ran away those other two men went at his
brother, did they? A, Yes ST

What did ihey do to him? A. Then ihey started to fight with
him.

Did they do anvthing to him before that? A, I dont know.
Had apybody done anything Lo Max the defenda t, up to

that tize? A I dont know

wWell, at the time when Herman was bri ;g struck by these two

ma:, what was Max doing? A. Well, he was standing talking
to his brother.

I mean while they were doi:p it, vou know, while one man
hit him, as you say, and then they rolled over, the: while
he was rolli:y; over, what was Max doing? A. The other two

of him.
hold of him , do you mean ot hold of him, or hit him,
vou mean? A, Started to fight with him.
Did they get hold of him or did they fight with him, hit him
with the Ffist? A. I did not take notice.

Q. You left the window? A. Yes sir.

MAX NOL 2 ¥, sworn as a witness on beh alf of the Defelfl-;-
dant, testifies as follows:

DIRECT-EXAMINATIUR, by MR. SANGER:

Q. |

Max, on the 4th of Octobe, 1891, what business were you

I

MNP R AR EENEUETC DA
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34A. Carpenter busiress.

Q. A carpenter? A, Yes sir.

Were you at work in the month of October,18917

Q.

Por whom? A. On the Cable Road on Third Ave me.

The Third Avenue Cable Road? A. Yes sir.
Your trade was a carpenter and ycu were raged in doing

carpenter work ¥m comnnection with the laying of the
cable? A. Yes sir.

Do vou remember the occurences of the night of the 4th of

Oetobe r? A, Yes sir,

par f the i .o down with your brother to Grosses brew-
the

beer up L0,49th 3treet saloon? A Yes

sir.

Q. Aid whean your brotihe ot throush delivering his beer in <48

Strect, where did you then go with him? A. Went on hoie, to

towards his house,
Qe You wai £+ towards his house? A, Yes sir.

Q. That was on 35th Street? AL sir.

Q. What Avenue 4id you go down? We went up Eighth Avenue

and then we crossed over 35th Street.

. You crossed over 35th Street? A. Yes sin

Q. And then vou got alo:g witil you got opposite the store of

your brother, that keeps a segar store, is that rigb t? A

v J— -

Yes sin
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Now just state whai occured when you ot opposmie vour
brother's store? A. Well, when I got to my brother's
store, m% and my brother werse walkirsy alorg and there
was 2 man standing behind a wagon and me aid my brother
were : about my eldest brother, and Schur came up
' 'wWhy voa call us sons-~of bitches'!
rd he said.
said? A, Yes sir.
And I told him it was none of his
or to go to hell, sonethins like that, I forget
now what it was. And I picked up a stome on the sidewalk
and I throwed it towards =y brother's store, just pitched
it~off that way, and never made any motion to anybody, and
Hat ch said, ''You better go on you 3ons—of bitches'' And we
weatr 1 on. And we walked up to 44+t.
o..( When vou say ''we'' db yu medn you aitd vour brother? A,
| Me and sy brother walked up to 444, and the first thing
1 kxnowsd there was some men behiid me and took off ny hat
and gave me a blow in the face, and knockred me down. And
the same thing they don2 to my brother, knocked us down
on the street, and two on me and twe on him. A d after-

wards =y breother r away froar them and them all four ot

on me and theoy knocked me down three or four times and b eat
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[ me and kicked me in the face and all over xy body and %

i was afrafld of oy life, and I picked up a litile stone

3

s

{

i and T tried to defend kixs® myself, and tried to knoeck them

Lonse from me-—---
. ! Tried to what, tried to knock them loose? A OFf of me
and I coixld not do it at all, but last I hit so, half way
diat

aromid, and I hit the men, I Moo=k know whether he fell

then I vran in the hous, and I jumped

over

|
;

Q. MNow, one mirmte, you say that those four men had you down
and were striking vou ou the sidewalk, and you were
trving to free yourself from them and you could not do so?

A, Yes sir,
Q. And vou suid yeu picked up a stone? A, Ves

Q. Do vou remcmber anything about ths knife?

E THE COURT:

QA. Where did vou hit the man? A. I dont know,

Q. You didnt know the. man you hit? A, Mo sir.

BY MR. SAM GRER:

Q. Y/ou strueck out and hit? A md hit arowmtd me,

Qi.. Por the purpose of getiing frre from them? A. Getting
free from them so that I could get away from thenm.

Q. Do you remember anything about the use of a knife?
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sir, I 7o not.
You dornt remember that? A. Mo sir.

And wonld not know vhether vou used that or noi? A. No sir

Were vou able to talk at all whilst vou were on the grourd?

Mo <Er.

Did vou know who the men were that were on top of vou? A
WNo sir.

Were they the same men, one of ithem the same man that

had stoken to vou at the wagon? I knew him.
You knew him, having se® him b > Al I

never seen nhim before that night. I seen him behind the
wagon znd afterward he followed us.

You had not seen any of ihe men thati followed you un til
thut night, ha d you? A Wo sir.

Did vou know Schur, the mzn that was killed?

You never saw him berore? A. Yo sir.

Hiad you any intention of killing anyoune? A. o sir, daidnt
mean to hurt anybody.

Didnt intend to hurt asnyo €? A No sir, Only wanted to

. N X 9
get loose from him. \x‘é\\‘% .

Wanted to get loose? A, Yes sir.

At the time vou strueck out did wu think you were in danger?

Yes sir.
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Now, afier you struck oul, did you then et up? A, Yes sir.

MNi.d what did you de? A. I went to the house.

Into vour brother's house? A, Yes sir.

And from ihere, where did you go? A, I went in the bacnck

yvard @id jumped over the fence and . went into the other

house, weit through the house and went out on the streei

and werit up to 49th 3trest; up home. I didnt have any

hat @nd I want on up there and got me another hat and I

back dow: then, and I goil arrested.

czme back from your house to your brother's house?
sir.

Had vou knewn at that time that you had hurt anvbody?

o siT.

Did you ¥now that you had hurti anybody at the time You

left there? A. No sir, I did not.

Only when vou came back? A. Only when I rrot arresied.

That was the first vou had heard that anyone had been

injured? A Yes sirT.

Have you ever been in trouble before, Mr.Nolze? A

No, I never was.

Have you ever been arrested before? A. No sir.

You have been engaged in your trade as a carpenter for

time? A. Yes sir, for the last four ye=r s.




POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL

And where were you golrg after le:d ving vour brother that

night, on the 4th of October? I wes poinc homé to my

fat her's house.
You inteaided
Yes SiT.
G. You iived with vour father in 49th Street? A. Yes sir,
in 49th Street.
CROSS~-EXAMINATION, by MR. DAVIS:
Q. Will vou tell me zgain when you first heard of any injury
being done to ihis marf
You said a ;uoms:;t ago that you did not
know that sou had hurt anvoae il after you were
arrest ed?
A, I didntv know.
vYou didnit krow that you had mart anyltody w:til you were
rrested, is that right? A I did not, that is right.
After the irouble on the sidewalk you went into your bro-
ther's house, didnt yow, through the wallway into the
vard? A. Yes sirm
and you saw vour bm ther there? A.Yes sir,

What did vou say to him when you Fot into the back yvari?

I dormt know, I da not recollect what I said if 1 sadd any-

thing.
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Is this your kaoife? A, Yes sirt.

pid vou have that with ¥you then? A, Yes sir, I had that in

my pocicet.

vou had that with vou th en? A.Yes sir.

{And you got over the feace? Yes sir.

[ Into the next yard?

G‘

yhere did you go

wenn t oui on the

Wow, hetfore ycu went throulh the hallway, what did vou do
with this kxnifs? A Threw it =away.
Threw it away? Where were you standi om when you t hrew il
away? A, In the yard.

Whidh wyard?¥ A. 4 v ard.
That is yowur brother's house? M Yes sir
And yoil threw it over on the roof, did you, of the house?
I dont know where I threw it.

You gave it a s1i g, did v ou? A. (no answer mive

Was it wet, moist, when you did that? A. Mo siIL.

It was not? A. I had it im my pock et, I domt know how
; was.

You had it in yowur pocket? A. Yes sir.

innd it was closed? A. Yes sirm

Aid perfectly dry? A. Yes sir

i “ “
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vou T pock et =nad threw i WAy — -~

 And you took it out of
threw it away? 1 do rt

vour br other ithere when you A

know, I didnt see him.
Why did you throw it away? A. Wel 1 1 was afraid they

e ard I might wonlid use it.
and T didnt

would follow nm
A. T was afraid they vould follow e

Wwhat ?
what I fight put 11 to in defece.
1 attack ed youn in t he

"

ki1iow

i _ .
You weTe afraid that

those men who har

Q.

e with you if they dd

street would follow vou?
gefene€

xnif

And yvou didnt w ¢ to have the
you
4+ have 10 use it in self-

R A Pt
"
s,

follow Vvou because zb:.:egdmigh

Yes siT.
wbody? A. No sir.

¥ And you didat wanit to stick ar
A, ¥Wo sir.
14 5,7 8 ooebody 4 hat vowu

it was to avoid possibly woMi¢
‘you were rudiing, 18 th at right?

"ot even in aelf defen ce?

<

Then
_threw the knife away, s.8

Yes SLT.
n that vou threv it away? A. That

A.\
Q.% Thet was the only reasor

is all.
Q. Was it the only xnife vou had? A, That is all.
Qe pid you have a pistol with vou? A, o sir, I never carry
didnt vyou? A. Yes

one.
v went out into the .street again,

Q. Then yo




POOR QUALITY
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R o e

mrough the hallway of ihe next house?
The sane streei? A Yes sSiT.
llow lLong did yvou take to go from the £fro it stoop of
vour brotheT's house through the hallway into the vard,
rnee throw the kxnife away and then get out on
street again? @ AL 1 could not tell you.
some iden? A. Avout ten minutes.
as that? A. About thate
lorng did veu stay i1 vour brother's wvard? A I didnt
ti:e.
v¢ 1+ Ticnt over the fence, didnt you? A. Yes sT.
vou went right oui, qidnt you? A I went through the

s, and went i cht out.

BRI

Q.\ Through the cellar and Tight out? A. Yes sir.

3. And that would not take ten minutes, would it? A. I domt
know how lo:g 314 would take.
Q. pid vou stop aryvwhere he fore going out? A. WO sir.
Q. Weit right out? A. Yes siT.
BYI THE COURT:
. <ou didnt stop in the cellar? A. Jud pulled of £ my coate.
BY MR.DAVIS:

-

Q. | You took off your coat in the cellar and hu: g it up in the

cellar, didnt you? A. Yes sir. ' o




POOR QUALITY

i
Q..i And went out in the strect without any coal? A, Yes sir,

because I didnt have =any hat, they stole iny hat and

ran away with it.

vou dirdti have any hat and when you got in the cellar mext

door to your broiher's you took your coat of £ and hu.g

it up in the ceilar? A. Yes sir.

Did wou know anybody. living in that house? M. lio Sir.

It didnt take vyou lorng to hmg up vour coat then? A, Mo sir

Then vou we: t right out? A. Yes sir.

Tnose people didni follow vou, did they, throush the hall-

way of wyour brother's house? A. They did not.

How do vou know they did not? A. Well, I didnt see then.

You looked for them? A. I was looki:y for them;, Yes sir

vou knew that they were no¥ followi :f you when vou got owe

over the feuce, didnt vou? A. Yes

sir.

When you got out in the sitreet you saw th em, didnt vou?

I did not
Didnt see anybody? A. No sSiT.

Didnt vou see Sclur iying therey A No sir.

Didnt see anybody around there? A. I paid no atte ;fion to

it.

He might have been there and vyou not see him? A.He might

have been there and I not see him.
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Z e

AL 30t A S W LA GBANT

vou went which way? A. Tomards Tenth Aveme.

And so on to 49th Strest? Al Yes sir

_Without stowpi g? AL Yes sim

Wnhenn you got there you got another coat, didnt

Yes sir.

And another hat? A Yes sirn

and thenn you came right back again?

Came back to yvour prothert's? A, Yes sir.

Al went up in his rooms and saw his wife? A. Yes sir.
And then Mrs.lolze asked You to hold the baby, didmt she?
Yes sir.

and she want out? A. Yes sir.

She didnt tell you what she was going for, did she? A,

Yes sin

What did she tell vou? A. she told e she is going to

1e1 1l ithe housekesper to ltet her husband in when he comme s
h

because he didnt have no night key to get in.

That is what she said to vou? A. That is what she itold me

And then she went out and locked the door, didnt she?

No sir.
‘Qure? A. Yes sir, I am sure.

Well, you supposed that she was goirg to tell 4+ ke house-

keeper to let Herman in, vou? A. Yes sir, that is




POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL

wuite d the:

eddidat

gidnt o e

whether she i .. he care behi
Didnt che 1otne fricer you were the

know wheother Sheo

Didnt vou el L he ¥ i rwaras abuat
Wi 2l 2 A, Mo sinrn

You didnt know that lirooiiol Ve out aid tolid the oftjcer
i : he vonin? i dnt
thaet tne o= who oot Schur was v ner Dowiaf A. I didn

koW,
: s : + N . hoad i any
Mow, down L hoat i e vou didint fnow et vew had Durt any
body, did
¥y vyt b e
d brovaer' s
What Llion
. . . ) s ect wabou
hou se% 7 dont know what = expect about

t €1,

: e [P S - N Lther
won wWere BISEN’ A ovour father

there?

But =t veur fother's hous g,

fathert's house.

e by A




Why did

corxe back? I justwanted to

anythi g happeried to him.

To whom? . To my brother.

To wvoxr brothe r? Yes

Is that the A. T Beoxk

reaso ¥

micht have {followed

that.

Thatlt is the reasen wou

came back.

vour ceoat of £

lLows to
I thouaght t

Qe That is the reacon vyou tock

is the reason.

2 You didnt have a:ry hat on? A,

teok it.

You hit Seimr, dicdnt zou

I dont know, sin

You domt know whether vou hit

Did vou take that knife out of

troable in A I did

And oren it?

veu © back to your brother's house?

Iz oW

Aim and beated

came back?

know

miehlt woilce

v oar

, You hiti this

wour pocket duariag

POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL

s/

A, vy did I

if

ee what had hapnened,

bt that the fel lows

hi:mx or scinething litre

Ay tne reason I

iy

the
e when I czne out,

for me o the outside,

coat ofifr A Yes €7,

T didnt have any hat hey
' 3

who wae killed?

IN&An
m? N
that

not, sin




POOR QUALITY
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e & b [ A RIS . .

Q. You did nct? A. Yo sir.
That vo-1 are sure of? 3 six +that T am
Positive? A, Yes siv, up rnowledge.
nat is what I want to krnow, sxy vositively that
vou did not, oOoT that you 0?2 el e b 2] A WeU.;
say that for
was so exeited and thev had
didnt know what I was d o1 gt
wvou mot in the yar d vou threw ithe nife awsazy
ot of v pocket and threw it away.
threw it awsy becanuse you knew that yoa
with it and vou didnt want 1o be fouw:rd
in vour pocket? T did not.

e That was not the resason? A. O

Q. Yy did vou throw it away, hecause vowu were afraid You
might mse it in seli-defense, is that the reason? A.

Qe How long had vou : i £ I had that for
about the lacst six years, used i1t in v busi. e Ss.
wWhat is o o] 3 57 A, Carpenter.

Used it to cut wood? A. Yes sir, and sharpen pencils eic.

Were vou ever in the siauchter house bus i.ess? A, I never

Lo~

was; only my sister in law used it for cutting eat.
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T gy

st iy £

48
Q. She used it to cul meat? A, Yes

. o ) o e 7T 9 AL Yes sir.
Q. Thaot is vour sister in law, the - > of HeTmane . Yes sS1

vuse it thazt day to cut me: N She used it that

A, Abouili ten or eleven o'clock
et A. I dont krnow, T didat

vou se€ helr?

Q { I do vou <ow she unoed it to cul e A, She told &.
- ! 4 NACR |
[

. i / Ale¥: id s si jnist told me
Qe %‘.’-Jna“ dicd she ta2ll you? A, That morniiy, she Jn

|3

she w. ted oy knife to
¥
Q. And vou guve it to her and ; 5 A ‘n’eslsir'.
Q. What iiqe was th: .. Abowut ten o' clock ih the moTNiig.
e How lo:ir had
Q. Were vou on per
es sirT.

Qs vou never had any trouble with her? A. liever..

ot a thirp? A, MEkx® Never had any trouble.

i

Never struck her? Allio sirT.
What¥?

- < e s
Did she ever aroe vou with striking her? A lio sir.
What? ! Mo

Are vou sure L Yes sir, I am sure Of tk?at°,,_,




AT D v

Hav e

vou lived her s Mew York

POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL

/(7 7—

last four

venTs?

How Lor av e esa bhesn

Wihhere

T

tivinig he: M. About two rears.

e live be forc v e herae? A. Tn Arkansas.
What busines o Follow ont there? Al

withati is where sl oy trade.

cull a cowbovy A

T Ve e

i you avaer 5 o ., mrisen ont there? Al

wWe

Where

Jdirh you live be fore you live

1

Te i LE NG veTe e i1y trouble belors, I sup-
do voirl mean to say you

never was arvested in oy

sear swok o youar left eve? - i L fell

Wagi't that done with a k:dfe?

Arlkan sas?  A. Texas.

How long we re. ) i A. I was there zbout two

zrs and =2

D P s SR e et <




Q. Did yvou speid any tine

[+ Did vou take care of

R, low lo: have you bec

A, Two ye IO S.

Q. Alld before 1lhat vou

Q v A

I he

Abont 1h
About three yeurs? A

Anzd before that

where?

And ‘you here

hal £ yvears,
Vinat mart of Texas?
What? AL
I cant hear yvom?

S

Is that inlavd or on
of

A JUROR @

Q.

éf;ﬂ a

Q.

What did wvoir do th

Which brothe 9
It is
Q.

kept the segar store?

Q. What did vou say? A

Q.. Dont you remember what

& .

SRTRVPIOLINTI

about how

1io0t the brotither who

What was it that you called your broiher thail nighit,

POOR QUALITY
 OREGINAL

ik . 17V o ) LS

never

didd.

lived i: Arkaisas?

reeyvear

I Teaxs.

masty t oear sY A Two and

Cloce to Dall

is that i the inte rior

It is il and.

v brother,

lives up in g2nd St.

hee store¥ A. No sir

Yhe

A. I dont Ltnow what I called hirmn

I dont kmnow, sir

you- - said? AT No TSiT, I dont re};{é}ﬁ‘?jé}“

s rweme e




What I said.
vou drii k?
how ig it

brotner?

@gbont five feet

id s 4o v 1Y A, 130 or 185

A, 23,

you weni to Texas, where Jdid

oy Live?

Yori.,

doivs he it Nd

S A s 2 .

win o P

e ~

WoPpknE.?

A, Yes sim

Q. Tor whom? A. I dont know

forgeti i1he man's nane.

Q. How old were you then? A, About sixteen
. Were vou born here? A. M sir.

G_ How long had vo lived at West 49th

SLreet when w "M were

ten




POOR QUALIT
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o B Y Py TP e Y R e e

A. I had lived therc for about two no
Q.
4
that night?
Did yvou seec him?
You dicdnit see nim?d A Y0 sir.
You micked up =z storg, didnt yvou? A, Yes sir.
How big a sto:e was 1t? A, It was not (uite as
fist.
As big as your
Q. You threw titne - dircction of wvour brother's shop? A
I never throwed it, I just
piteched
Simply Ditched it . 3 SiY beczise I wanted
ap avd 2t that
time I just had it in v
PDid yvowu pieck it up on the AT 11 s sinply to get it
oul of the way and ihrow ne L A. Yes sirm

You didnt pick it up to throw it¥

You nicked as o et it off the sidewalk in the

middle of the street, is that the idea? A. Yes sir.
Just to remove it F® m the sidew.1k? A. Yes sir.

1o intention of inrowim it at ay body?

Or-at the store? —As—Y-es Sre——




i TR Y TR L e

Now, is that trme?

Did vowu hit Semir wit Lh: 3 v that vonr had i1a vour h o d?

You do i
How big was the stone tnat you pioebed ap? ; Ii was a
small stone, weighed zbout a half a pound, T cuens, I
conld jgust hold
RY TIiE CowunT:
. VWhat
Al
BY MR, DAVIS
Q. A sharp €dred stome? < : Just knoaked Off
those m=vi.ag stores.
Give s soue idea of the mxam size of it, let us leok at
ii, how loug was it? ; dont ¥now, I could just
hold it in my haad.
You conld just hold i i nsicde of vour nannd? A, Only just.
one edse o stielkd =i or. That is the way I
know, justi gues

Was it a sharp store? Yes sir

Were vour hands cut? J - <3 my lips-—-—--

holding i1i? o N i hev were not ecut.

lips were? A. My lips were, yes.

NP RO RN
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Which 1ip? A, The urder limn.
Where was it ocuts SN On
{ was swelled up the noxt day.
NDid
Aind did
Larp e
Q. So yol
vou Looked close.
RE-DIREST EXALIFATIONBY MR, S
struck
Q. Whet Semr xkazé/‘yc;u th ir oo i e did Yot mal
hia? A 1>) 53T .
I wihhat ireaction di 4 ; Towards the hougse.
A. Yes osin

-~

e. 11 fo llcwed

o
down? AN Yes sirT.
Sehur and Hat ch and the other man and the
person whom yeou didnt know, fe1l on 01, that was the time?
Yes siv.

Did they hurtvou? A. Well, they kicked me aud chocked me

Laocked mexaME  in the he ad.

Could vo1 move vour buids or anything?

Did you itry to get
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e A L AP 8P Tt oh T a2 0 i LT

avay? A, X iried to met away from then.

e Could vou? A. 1 could not rtfirst.

e You cowid noi? A. WO
Q. Is vyour father still
Is he here? A. Yes sgir.

EXAMINATION, by MHE.DAVISE

-~

Cupt.Cross, taat you hit Schur wi 81 de

(izdicating) and ti @b that vou

him that? , I only told

and

ihis to Captazin Cross (readiag) '

nicce of rod: wiith a sharp €dge
ad wiith dit. Whiidh I held in
lect.
saving th .7 A L told him---
tell him thatY A o sirp, mnot all of it.

You diant telX him that?y AL No

I only said I bit sSome-

body, I didnt know who it was, and Captain Cross then said,

Vi Well, it-was Schur,'' aad then he pui it down, I didnt

tell him. : R
e

N

." . . .
Well, what I mean is, did you say that you pieked up a piece

"of rock with a sharp edge and struck----?. _A._ Somebody. .

FENPRUPIELIR VS
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he

dowl: alicl I Ou

didnt say that, T dic

GRS VO

Fell doua:

suy that?
& hoard!'!?

pvoliece would

I went

" L .1 e e : - 1
Oy, ; Btad Ganz, Just vhe

v, ”
say Police,

id e Lhzot the 3tuble Gung has bea

long tige.

1 atenent down inoowritiage? A1

el




ry

Q.

Qe

 POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL

THE COURT:
Did vyou sSee him write it dewr? A He was sitti g,
¥now whether he was writing, he appeared to be wr Ling.
Did he have a mapecr before him? A, Yes sir
And a wvenecil in hi X1 o A, Yes sir
And as youmade your statement he made his hand mo as if

werkwg wriling, that way? A. Yes sir.

BY MR.DAVIS:

Q.

A.

Q.

Now, Captain Cross swears thzit you told him L hat yozx
changed vour coat so that the Police would not %umow you?
I didit say Police.

You say you didint use the werd Police? A, He said
Police and then he put it down.

You said Gapg? A. Yes sir, I said Gang.

You said Gang, ilhen he said Poliece? A. Tes siT.

d
And he chose his word and didnt put decwn yours, is that

what vou mea to say? A. Yes sir, that is right, yes.

'tf then went up to my home and got a coat 3and hat and

Lhen returned to my brother's house uwmd when I was arrested"
IpDid vou state that? A, Yes sir.
§Did aryy of those men who attacked you, as you say, have

2y sticks:in their hand®® A. I dont know, I didnt see any.
Or pistol? A I didnti see ;es.ny.

“lor knife? A. I d%dnt see any.
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ORIGINZAL

You were not out anywherTe, wWere you, with a knife? A. L

do 1t know.

vierent hit at all wiih a store oOT & stick, that you know

P

——_— o
ety

of? A, Mo sir

Q. You were sober ihat night? A. Yes sir.
Q. lilow many beers had you drank that day? Al well, about four

or five.
four or five, is that ail? A That is all

Qe

id vou haveany trouble gettins into vyour brothetr' s house

P
g
l-l

when vou ran away or was the fro:L door onperl A, The

e

fro nt door was CoWLEi.
Q. Was it starding opern?

THE COURT:
it a tavement house, do other familia? live in it? Ao

Yes, lois of families live in it.

BY MR.DAVIS:
Q. Was the dcor owpen when you got there, hefore lLhese men caae

there?
the hallway? A, About

Q. How many steps up is it to

five or sSiX.
Q. And the hal lway is right free back, isnt it, youw ran
right through io get ount into the yard? A. Yes siT.

Were there any other people around there at the time these.‘

Q.

R LW I T e B




! POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL

AR P P A A

men cane up? A, well, I didnt see anyvbody exactly,

1 seen some up in the wi
Q. I

sdow .

mean the street, the ctreet was clear, wasit 1t7
st reet was clear.

A, Yes sir, as far as I can recoliect

Were MO cood health tha.t night?

in

!
{
{
{

A. Yes siT.
. \r’i-‘ou had not been sick at, all? A, WO
RE-DIRECT,

por}

YAMINMATION by Mr. SANCGER?
Q. You didnt read that stat ement after

Captain Cross

took it
down,

did vou, vyou didnt read that Statement? AL Mo s8ir,
I did not

Y -

BY THE COURT:

Q. i;Your nro the v says yoeu got wder ne influence of liguor
i that night? A. I know noilhing avout i1, I was--
§Yo~1r nrother said that you were uiderthe iafluence of
g: beer, and nNow you SaY v ou were not? A. I

%
s

dont know as
I was, voar lbnor.

{
Q. zYou dori know as vou were? A.
1

No sir, 1 only drank aboug
five glasses of beer that day

AV 1R.DAVES:

Qe You were asked whether ibis was read over to you, I th i pe?
A. Yes sir.

G. 1If Captain Cress re ad
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AL RS T P T pee s o

/8

he wrote and which vou sSay wou sSaw him writi g? A. Yes sin
Did he read it tc yowu? Al si T

He didnt read it to yvou? A. VNo sir, not as I know of.

What? A Mo sir, he did not.

Do wvou meunn to say positively that he did aoi, or that

vou do ;i remember, wvhich? A. I dont remember as he did.
You doit renemnber? A. No sir.
You donl remember him aski .y vou %o listen to him while he
read it and to make m‘iy correctio ;s that you wan ted to ‘_in_:_
1t? A. Mo sir, he didnt say anyihing about it.

Do you meen to say that he did not say it, or tha.t you do nt
remenher it.? : I szy he didnt.

You say he did not? p Yes i,

Positivelv?Y A, Yes sir,

Absolutely? A, Yes sir.

ERR ST M OL ZE swomm as a witness on behalf of the
Defendant, testifies through an interpretier, as
follows:

DIRECT-EXAMINATION, by Mr. SAMGER:

Q. You are the father of Max Nolze, the de ferdant? . A. Yes sin

Q. Does Max live with yvea? A. Yes sir.

Q.. Did he live with yoa in October, 18917Y A Yes
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his habitis regulé.r‘?
You emnot ask those specﬁ. fic uestions,

vou can ask generaliy what his charact er was.

Q. He lived at your did he not? A, Yes sirt.

Q. Was he home in the evenings?
TIIE COURT: I vQ-ill exclude it because it has noth-

ing to do with this case. You cau ask the general gu

gyuestion if vou want to ask as 1o his characi er.

Yy

Q. Was liax ever arrested or did he ever et into trouble? A,

Mever.
Q. What was his general reputation for peace and @iet?
AL Always oo 0d.
CROSS-EXAMINATION, by MR.DAY 1s:
Qa Didnt vou hear of his having been arrested in Arkansas.
When he was oui there? A. Wosir, I did not.
Did vou ever hear? A, I didnt hear that.
Didnt vou hesr of his being arrested while he was in Texas,'
didnt you hear of it? A. No, ¥ didnt hear of that.
Wwhat was his busiress out' there in Texas? M. He was a
carpenter there.
What was his busimess in Arkansas? A. When he came home

he told me that he wor ked as carpenter in Arkansas.

ecare of cattle out theré& :

Did vou ever hear of his taki:g
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i

o sir.

iew Yory latelv?Y A. Nearly

AULRrAPP SWOrn as &
Defendant, thiy >h @ daterpretern,

DIRECT-EXANMINEATION,

Q. o vou Xipw the : %y iiolze? SN, YVas sirv.

Q. How lonm bhzvre roua X KA ¢ A. Promr 1371, in Sermny I
Iznew nim

You knew hirn £ 2 i R aleetht S0 . Wes iT.

liave vou TR i Live iz this Country? A,

Immedi ot el : he arrived here I saw him when he came to
Lsmerica.

Has he been in the hobii of seeing you during the last two
cr ti vears? A. Last year I saw hin very often.

Duxi: 15 thhe lazt year? A, Yes =i

BeforTe he was arrested? A. He Came 10 see me often

Do you know his general character and repuitation for peace

and quieil? Ite hes a good repuiation as a peaceable

PENPRUEIO




always was

liave vou

2t «ll?

vhat is your

Vi al
Boss

any more, 1 have

Do vowu kunow the

leari ed Lo know hi:

Have vou known him

house berfore he

In ihe cource of

last fifieen

ac. .

Ile was working
L)

In this ecitiy?

Did vomn ses him

Tow often «id you see

that he was

defe
apecnt ridten
eycr £iz A
ool
vour acyusintance

months—- <% A,

v o Ften? Ao D

| POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL

Cyer e serry

o 0d YO {T InE

<
L

inn trouabie

Nav e know: him he wasn
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TIIE COURT: You neced not answer that.
CWhere was that staterent writtedf A, In my ofriice
20Lh Precinct stiation house.
You tocik two siatements, didni you? A. No sSir.
s prese ted to yo to-day?
not two stzatemsniis shown Lo you to-day? A
vour office? A. I took one
ready testified.
BY MR, 3NIGER:
Q. You touok Lhe sl @ang iv Lhe Tombs, didnt yon? A
Then & igi ted the DI i1 the Tombs City Prison
cin Conmruny with Roundsmen James Kexxedy Campbell, of
the To:abs Tourt Sqguad.
Q. Where dic you write down the particulars of that intevvi ew?
A I wrote then down in oy memordildum booke.
vou wrote ihem ocut from your memor i dum book afterwards
in your own offiece and not in the preseice of the derfend @it
is thaet go? A That Vf:':k.s the subsequent statement in re-
ference to Llhe knife.
Q. You wrote that

, not in his presence, but in your office,

and from a memoradl dum Yyou before in vour memorandum
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book? A. Yes sSir.

THE COURT: His attentionwas called by the District

Attorney only ito the other stat ement.

Clqu“e‘d.
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K.1680, 2 C.

Coreners Office, 5w York Countwv .

Inquest. into the death

YR

- c¥ -

: and a Jury.
OTTARIES SCHURR.

st st s Ao

Vew York, Hovember 18th, 1891.

OFFICER THOMAS J. KRMHEDY, duly svro N

T am zttached to the 20+h Precinct. On the even-

ing of October 4th, between 9 and 10 o'cleck, 1 was corner

of 84th Street and 10+h Avenue and some citizens told me

there was a man lying on the aidewalk below, injured. I

went up there and in front of No. 244 West 85th Street +his

man was lying unconscious, he had & wound in his head; he

was bleeding. i ipauired who did it and sent for an ambu-

lance. 1 drauvired who ascaulted him; 1 went in +h rough

the hallwav of house 444 ard I found Herman lolse in a

water cleseb. 1 sgked him if he had any +rouble, I +thought

it was he- He said no. Afterrards I found out w'2re he

1ived and I went upnstairs ard placed him under arrest .

¥
He said 1 didn't do ncthing, it was &y brother Max and he

has gone over the fence in the rear of the house - I ar-

rested him on suspicion- A short time afterwards Max was
. .?c'{,o__.{?.,,ﬁ’\,,g )
arrested by Officer Schiiltze, he made a confession;

he said he got into trouble with those peocple, that he hit

him with a sharp stone on the head, the doctor s+ated it

covldn't bhe done with 2 sharp stone- We made an investi-

sation upon the day and found a verv large knife on the
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roof of the house which he oscaped over; the knife was all
covered with bleocod; the man was stabbed right through *he
temples intc the brain; he died six or seven hours after
being admitted to the hospital. I sent him te the Roose-
velt HFospital.

0 hat time of the day was this? Al About, ten o'elock
at nighbt.

0 14id vou arrest the defendant, the prisoner?

A. Officer Schultze got. a description of the other man,

he sarrested Maxks.

0 And vou arrested Herman? A. I arrested Herman.

Ry Counseli-
0 Where did vou find the knife? A. On the roof, right

opposite £44..

0 Tt wsns covered with blood? A. Yes, sir; the blade-
0 Fresh? Al Tt was not very fresh, it was found the
following day.

Q Was it an ordinary pocket knife? Al Yeg

ordinary nocket knife.

Q "hat was the size of .he blade? A T didn't measure

+he blade-.

0 So far as you can remember it? Al About, three idinches

in lengthe.

0 And the width of it - of the blade? A. Over half an

ch broad.

How does it compare with this, (knife shown witness)

i
0
A, Larger than that.
0

The blade was three inches long? A Yes -

(2)
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0 Ard ha lf an inch wide? A. Yes, sire-

0 At the base? Al Yes, sir; we looked for the knife

onn information received from Hermen's wife, when Marks went

over the fernce he said, 1 w411 newawa v WL&/W,L:;Vhat inf or-
matior we f ound it-

d. Did vou show the lmife 1o anvene?

0 Whet did vou do with it? AL The

0 You don't kmow that it is the priscner's kni

Ve, sir; I oouldn't swear whether he did or

OFFICGFR ANDRFW SCHOLLES, duly sworn, testifded:-

T am attached o the 20+h Precinct; 1 had these two
posts that night from 35th to 36th Street from 7th to 10+h
Averme; I was coming around to 35th Street and I met Offdi-~
"cer Kemedy with Herman Holse, he told me there was a man
stabhed on my post at 444; +they had taken Charles Schurr
in the meantime to the hospital; I went up *o the house *o
find out, whether I could find out erwvthing about it
while 1 was in front of the house Herman's wife came dovn
+0 me ard notified me that Marks was up stzirs, that he did
the stebbing and told his brother he threw the knife aways
1 wert up and srrested Marks in his brother's house; we

OJO"' -

went up stedirs; the sweat was poring ot~ AcA A N
I~

when I arrested him he said I dm't know anything at all

about it, I had no business to come up there and take him

(3)
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out of his brother's house; ne said he didn't de anything;
I tock him to the station house and explained the thing to
the captain, amd he was taken to the Roocsevelt Hospital

to see if he could bhe identified; 1 went hack to the house
again +c search for the knife; 1 searched the cellar and
verd, and 1 found Marks' coat in the cellar next door in
the engine room it was hanging, I brought the coat arcund
the house znd in the meartime Marks came to the station

houvse, and he identified the coat as belonging -t.o Marlks;

in + he meant ime Marks changed his coat-

+

Q You found +the knife? A, Yo, sir; I was loecking for
the knife-

Q Who feimd the knife? A, Officer Kennedv found the
knife; 4it got teo late, I didn't want to go to the next
block to wake up the peonle; it was & Sunday night and I
didn't wal;zt to disturb them.

Q Did vou know Charles Schurr? A, Mo, sir.

Q How did vou find out he was the persa that was in-
jured‘i;’ AL From the parties that were around there, I
didn't know his name on that night, I didn't know who he
was, 1 might have seen him but not know who he was; 1

didn't know anything about it-

MARION HATCH, duly sworni-
I iive No. 419 West 85th Street; I came out of

saloon; I think it was the 4th of October, on a Sund ay
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night; it was October 4th; it was between nine and ten
o'clock, I think it was, in the evening- 1 was ¢ gning out
of the saloon and a man by the name of Fhrhard in 35th
Street, of f Ninth Avenue; 1 was on my wav to go home;

1 live right opposite; I stepped behind a furniture track
helonging +o Brown, to make mv water, because there was
gsomebody in the urinal in the place, and coming out; and
while there +wo peonle came behind me - whether they picked
up a brick I don't know, or whether they had one in their
hand - and I thought the brick was meant for me, ard I said,
"You don't mean it for me?“

0 What was the reply to it? A'., "You son-of-a-bitch,

I will kill you."”

0 Who said +hat? A, One of the two, there was a tall

and a2 short fellow, then I went back to the salcon and asked
for Mr. Fox; Mr. Fox was in the water closet, and Charlie
came running out, being a friend of mine, he wemt down the .
street, and t+he tussle began; the short fellow was at me
arnd the tall fellow at Charlie. In 2 minute was all over,
the two of them had disavpeared; I turned around and I seen
Char lie Schurr lyirng on his back at the gutter, - at the mud
gutter; I held him in my arm until Mr. Fox came dovn the
street; he said, Call for the ambulance; send for the am-
bulance, snd told me to go ahead, and I went up 1o the
house; +that is 211 I know about it.

Q How many persons Were‘ there with vou that evening when

this 1+ ook place, Schurr and myself, the deceased and myse 1f .
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] Did I understand you to say when one of these men sadid
he would kill you you went into +he saloon? A.

ard asked for Mr. Fox.

Q Why? Al Because he threw +the brick and

over my head.

Q He threw +he brick? Al Ves, sivr-.

Q And they went dovn the street? A. Yes, sir-.
Q

What did vou go into the saloon for? A. I went for

My. Fox to give me helpe.

Q You say they threw +he brick and rwin away?® A, We
followed them down the street ard hed the tussle with thene.

Q They went down the street? A, Yes ,

sir.

Q There was no necessity for yvou to go in there for any
help when vou found they were going away? A, No, sirs
0 You say vou went in the saloon to get Mr. F‘ox‘:"

A. Yes , sir-

Q And vou ran after these two men? A.

0]

Yes, sir.

You were trying to get up a row, were vl no+?

A, Ho, sir; they broke my hat, 1 was after buying it, =2

+two dollars hate.

Q You got Fox, and you started to chase these two men? .

A, No, sir; he was in the water closet-

Q Who wernt, dovn with you? A. Charlie Schurre.

Q How far away were they when you ard Schurr started to

chase = fter + hem? A. o more than four or f ive houses,

1 think.
Q Were they walking? A. 1 +hink they were-
Q Didn't you say they started to run down when you went

in to get help? Al Yes, they ran down towards 10th

(8)
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0 And while they were rimning down towards 10th Avenue
vou went. into the saloon? A, I ran into the door ard
called for Fox.

Q Who came out? Al Chsrlie Schurr.

Q And +hen vou started in pursuit afiter the other men,
who were dewn tovards 10th Avernue? A. Yes, sir-

0 Howr fay had they got hefecre vau came up with “hhem‘-”

A. They were dovm about the place where the mirder hap=-
pened .

0 How far were they fron the place where the brick was
thrown, as you say? A. When we met +hem?

Q Yes, when you comenced to chase them and ot up to them
how far from the plsce where the brick was thrown was :it‘;’
A, Where t he brick was thrown was about 208 and they were
at 444.

Q So they were about a dozen houses awvav? They must
have heen less than +that.

0 And yourself and Charlie Schurr started in pursuit, va
started fron where the saloon was and got up with them,
caught up ~with them? A. Yes, sir-

Q You were running fester than they were running‘?

A. I dn 't knov, mavbe thev stopped running after that,
maybe thev stopped ruwmning for all I know.

0 Now, what did you do? A, The tussle started right
there -

Q What did you do, did yvou get hold of these men?

A. Yes, sire.

Q Whom did vou take hold of? short fellow.
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And Schurr tock hold of whom? A. The big fellow-
0 You sterted in pursuit of those two men? A. Yes , sir-.
Q You toeck hold of the short men and Schurr t ook hold of
the t2l1l man? A. We started right after them - I know
the fight -
Q One *t. cck hold 61“ +he short man and the cther tcok held
of the shgpxk tall man? A. Yes , sir,;
0 Thet is the man you were tussling with bef ore? A. I
only hed one tussle-
Q What did vou do with vour man? Al Noihing at all,
T @d4idn't have a chance t o do anvthing.
Q That did vou do there, did veu go there for the pur-
pose of having a rov =i +.h h:im";? A. We1l, I went there to
have a rov certainly.
Q You went there to get revernge because he threw the brick
at vou and broke your hat? Al Yeos , sire
0 What did Schurr go there A. I dmm't know.
Q You never saw them - and they never had seen him be-
fore‘;? A. Ho, sir; mnever had seen him before. He ver
had seen them hefore-.
0 Did Schurr strike him? A. I dor't know-
Q Nid you see what happened t+.here between these two
brothers? A. No, s:ix;-

0 You are sure thet Charlie Schurr got hold of the man?

A. Yes , sir; he got hold of the big man.
0 You are sure? Al Yes -
8] You went in for vaiwr man and Sehurr went 4in for the

ot.her man? Al T didn't say anything of the kind-

(8)

;
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0 You don 't know what hamwened between Schurr and this

orne of +he brot hers? A, ITdo't-
(U /\\’\./\/L/\,"\A/

Q Mkﬁgwhen vou ot W Le{"mwi th veur OWAOAAS - U\(\A’V”

QIKJ\:\A/\/\A ey Schury in the gmutter? A.  Yes, sir-

Q vou den 't knew how he got there, do veu? A. Wo, sir-
Q How long were vou tussliig with vour man? Al It was
all donre in a minute-

Q Did vou +hrow vair man? A. T t+hink I ms the one
that wemrt. doynn, that was the last of it-.

You never saw these two men hefore, did you?

You dan 't know who they are? AL No, sir.

0
A, No, sir.
Q
Q

Did vou have a knife with you that evening? A.

Where is it? A. In the House of Detentione.
O Who +tcck it fram vou? A, They toock it dovn there
fron me.
0 The o ff icer t ook the knife from vou? Al Yes -

0 And it is now in the House of Detention? A. Yes

»

sir; a smell, 1little, white-handled pen-knife-

0 What did veu do with the kn:i_fe‘.;’ A. Used it in my
business for sharpening pencils.

0 Did vou use it that nighf,‘.:’ AL Ho, sdire.

0 Did Schurr have a knife? A. Ask hime

0 Do vou know whether he had any? A. T cauldn't sav
that.

Q0 You cculdn't say he hadn't any? A. T couldn't say

thate.

Q Do yvou carry a pistol? Mo, sirs
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Q Did Schurr carrv a pistol? A, Mo+, that I know of-.

By a Jurori-
0 Did vou see the defendant strike this man with anvthing?
A, Ho, sir; I did not- :

By “b.ﬁe Coroner:-
Q What is your occunation? A. Furniture business,
perber -
0 What business, where? A. For Ludwig Bauman & Com-
peny, No. 5ifi Fighth Avenue-. N
0 Were wou employed there at the time v a1 were in this
row there, or the dav hefore, 7ere vou vor king?

A. .T was, vyes, S8ir.

0 For what foreman? Al For Mr. Fox, he dees work for
S

Richard Walters & Sons, 38th Street =nd Broadvway-
Q This octher man Sehurr, how long did v ocu know h:‘m‘?
A T knev him for some time, he bearded with me-
8] What is vour age? A. Thirt.v-onrne vears this August -
0 How old was Schurr? Al Soméhweres around about
twerty; I boarded =ith him, and he drove one wagon and I
drove a van for the same narties-
0 jad v ou beeﬁ drinking that night? Al Yes, sir-
Q Had vou and Schurr been 't,og;e’c,her‘." A. We were in 8th
Avenue ard had a walk, and I started on my way home-
0 You had been drinking, both of vou? A. Well, Schurr
T don't think had beern drinking very much.
By a Jurori-
0 Why was this brick thrown? A. What, 1 heard after -
the next morning 1 heard the brick was throrn to break

their brother's show window.
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19} At the show window of the segar store of the hyrother of
these defendarts, these two men here in Court? A. That
is what 1 fo und cnt after mrds.
Q Do veou know these two men? A. Mo, sir; never seen
them before.
By a Jurori-
0 NDid veu recognize the men that night, when you wert to

run after them? A.

By the Coroner:-
Q You identified those men that n:i.g;ht‘:’ A. I could re-
member the short fellow, but the shoxt fellow I rouldn't
say sanything aboute.
0 Who: were the men vou idertified, are they here?
A. The only one 1 can idemtify is +.he one next to the

officer; that is the one T had the tussle with.

By Coimmseli-

Q Are vou still in the onse of Detertion, as 2 witness?

A, Mo, I am out on bail.

GFORAE W. FOX, duly svorni-

By the Coroner:-

0 Where do vou 1live® A, NMo. 428 Tenth Avenne; my O0CGCH

pation is exPressmolne.

Q VYou do business for vourse 1f? A. I work for myself.

-

Q You have vour own teamq‘ A ‘\j/es\ LT -

(115
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0 Jvst tell the Jury evervything vou saw_that,niqht in
reference to the stabbing affray or ocecurrence, whereby +the
death of ﬂharles-Schurr was cansedéA; This Scurr worked f or
me and +the other witness Wbrked for me, he was 1in the
salcon in 35th. Street, 1 was there mvself at the table and
one of the witnesses called for me and alsc for Char lge
Sehurr; when he ~alled for me 1 was in the water closet,
my drawers had fallen dovn and T was vicking them up in

the water closet; T was fixing them up as he called for me-.
0 Who was tha +% A, That witness here, Mr. Hatch.

Q Whet followed then? A, The resnult was then Schurr
went out with him dowm the street for these nmeople here.

0 The Holse Brothers? A, Yes .

How do vou know they wert, dovn after them? A. Well,

0
he came in ard called out for Schurr to give him & hard.
0

Who did, Hatch? A. Yes, sire.
0 What did he sayv? A. He said cone out here and give
me 2 hsnd.
Q You were Dresenté A. Yes, sir; I heard +the remark
and at the time T haed my pants fixed up +they wert up the
street and 1 saw these meonle here, the Nolses, they came
and Max Nolse was fighting; I wert dovn the street ando
when I got down there this man Max Nolse was there and T
said vou had better stop this how, vou will wet arrested,
and thne fifst,thing I knew he made three or foir o lews at
oNWNR o nwdith his fist, and the man - he made & strike f or
me too, this big fellow did, and the fellow was too big for

me, and of course I didn't feel like getting my face mutil-

ated, and I went across the street, and I turmed arownd ardl
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seer this Max hit Schurr a blow, and I seen the deceased
f211 én the sidewalk, that is all 1 know abhout it-.

O Did vou say anvthing to Max Nolse‘;" Al Yes, sir-.

0 What did vou say to him? A. I sadid, let *this thing
drop and get up in +he house or vou will pget arrested, +hat
is whet I said to him; he made +7r0 or threestrikes at me
+hat wav with his fists; and 1 kept running bac kvards, I
didn't care about getting shruc k¥ by the man, he was toc
heavy for me to0 hother with hime.

(j You gaw him strike or hit the deceased Sc hurr"

Al Yes, sir; he was on the sidewa lk and the deceased run
@p to him, to meet him I suppose-

0 Schurr d:id‘? Al The deceased went up to meet him, T
supnose, and afterwards Max hit him and he dropped on the

sidewalk.

0 Tn +hat, way did he hit him, can vou tell us" A. Yo,

Anybody else bes 1des‘? Al
Did vou see any weapcn in his hand‘-’ A.
Any knife or ary instrim ent of env kind? A. Yo, sir-

After Schurr fell he went in zgmiar the outter?

A. He turned around a couple of times an? Tell on the

sidewa lk.

Q What became of Nolse? A. He werd up in the house-

Q Did vecu go with this man Schurr? A. T went to search

for an officer, to et somebody to get an ambulance for him.

I seen he was insensible.

Q You went up to him? A. Yes , sir.

B e .
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You found him unc onscious? A,

Bleedingm? A, Yes, sir.

Did vou try to speak to him? A. No, I djdn't +ry to

speek to him.

Q How did vou find out in what condition he was in, vou

tried +o find out whether he was badly hurt or not?

Al T seen the man was hurt, he was insensible and hurt,
I think I seen him - and he warted a swurgeons.

0 You judged that from his zppearance? A. Yes, sir-
O You made no attempt t.o speak fo h:im‘.;> A Fverybody
+tried o rouse him up, he was only a bove

Q How o0ld was he? A. Retween 18 and 19 vears old.

0 Did sn officer cane & lony then? Al Wo, sir; +the
of ficer csme =z bout ten minuvutes after the aceident happened,
or about five minutes-

0 Were vou therc when the ambulance came‘;’ A- Yes, I
geen him put in the ambulance, and I wert up to +the hospi-
tal afterwvards.

By Counse l:-

C—2 How near was Schurr lying to the gutter when vou saw
him? Al His legs were in the guther, but the onrincipal
part of his body was on the sidewalk.

Q Was he lying on the sidewa lk, on. the side of his head‘é
A Mo, sir; 1lying on his back, when I saw him, he was
lying canpletely on his bhack.

0 Did vou see him turn cver‘:’ A. No, sir-.

Q The other witness said he saw him fturn two or three
ﬂbimes‘.;" A, I saw him go arcund that vay on his feet and

fall, fall right down.

(14)
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] Did vou see where he s+ruck himself? A, IInfortunate-

1y he struck himse 1f on the feorehead.

Q Did vou notice where his head strck the pavement when
he fell? A. Vo, sir; 1 didn't see that.

0 Was there o lamp 1it near there? A. ¥Mo, sivr, a lady

brought a candle out and +yied t o light it in the wind, it

wouldn't burne.

Q Was there @ lamp near there? Al No, sir; a lady

brought a lamp outb aftervards, snd the boyv was saturs ted
with bloed.

0 Didn't vou hear Schurr cry out or make anv remrk‘;’

Al Mo, sir; I didn't hear any remar k whatever.

Simply when 1 went dovn the street +he four men were fighir
ing, that is all +here was, I heard no cries or noise or
arything like that.

0 Did vou see blows strrck by the four men? A. Yes -

fan

The f our were striking each other? A. Yeso.

0
Q Did vou see Max's arms around Sehurr at 21l1?

Al Yes .
0 roth of then? A. Yes .
':,He wae holdding him with his two arms‘é A, There was
no c¢linch, it was blow for blow.
Q With the clenched fist? A. 1 couldn't see that, it
was so dark vou couldn't see arvthinge.
Q You saw no weapon in Max Nolse's hand?
) And you were very close up ~writh him?
He struck at vou?® A. Yes .
When he struck at vou he had no weavon in his hand‘é

No, sir.

e 000
(1)
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HERMAN WOLZE, duly sworn:i-

By the Cormmer:-

0 Where do vou live? Al No. 444 West 35th Street.
0 Wnat is your business? A. I am driving & lager beer

wWamon.

0 What brevery? A. Michael Groh & Sons.

0 How loryr have vou been employed there? A.

working there feor two summers.

0 Were you working up to the time vau

NXREELXX were arres-
ted? A.

Yes, sir, 1 was working +he ssme nighte.
1s any of +the firm here? A. Mo, sire
How old are vou? Al T am £ roing on 21.

Are vou married? A. Yes,

is vour brother?

. Yes, sir.

Where does vour brother live? A. Mo. 511 West 49th

treet.

Q

0

Q

(5, This defendant, here, the D
A

0

S

Q

What was your brother working at? A. Laving cable

trac ks on Third Avenue.

0 VYou are held as a witness simply, not as pris oner ,

tel1l the Jurv what vou know of +he ocecurrence on October
4th, 18917 A, On Saturdav, the 4th of October I went
down to feed my horses, because every si x weeks one of the

driverd must feed the horses, and it was my turn; I went

dorn o the brewery ard there was about 29 horses there, I
had to feed them, and it was a little after six o'clock
when I went away from the brewery, and I tcok the car to
49th Streed, 1 wanted to get up to my parents; my brother
is living with them; I stopped in = saloon in 44th Street

(18)




between 8th and 9th Avenues, a élast.oxner of mine, where I
serve beer; I met my brother there, and it was a very warm
night, and the customer ran out of beer ard he asked me if
I wanted to get a few kegs cof beer for him from the brewery;
1 goid it is pretty late, I said 1 will do it, I went dovn,
and he said, take your bhother along; I tecck him along, he
gave us the car fare to go dorn +o0 the brewery in 28th
Street; I hitched up a single wagon and put down ten
gquarters of beer and brought them up for that man; after
that I +ook the beer into the place and brought the wagon
down +o the brewerv again and put the horse in the stable,
and we went away, me snd my brother, we met my brother com-—
ing up &th Averwe and 35th Streeth; I wanted 1o o0 home;

I 1lived Mo. 444 and we passed my brother's docr at 410

West 35th Street; that is my e lder brother; and me and my
brother, we were talking about him, and hecause we are not
frierdly with that brother and my brother here made & re-
mark, sa‘;/ing, he said, the son-of-a-bitch is no good; he
said +o me, the son-of-a-bitch is no good;" there was

+his Hatch, this witness he was s-tand ing behind that truck,
ard he came up to us and asked us sy At @ adobi Thit
waner 1 gaid to him, we don't mean him; T said we dan't
mean vou; 1 mean my brother, and my brother picked up 2
‘stone and threw it in front of the store where my brother
has this place, not touching +hzt man at all with the stme,
and th~»t Hatech he went awav, then 1 didn't‘ see arvithing fran

him anymore at all ard we wert away already and when we

- eame dovn as far as 844 where I live, 1 said to my brother

I am going up stairs now because I miet get up at three

(17)




POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL

8 K2 i, T B0 — o
¥ CTERT

o'clock in the morning to go to work, and it was about half
past nine o'clock; at that fime all a2t once there was four
men behind us arnd knocked us down and hit my brother and hit
ue in the neck and we bhoth fell dorn and my brother fell in
+he street and went dowvm like that, and 'one of these fellows
I +hink was Hatch, the wav I seen it, he kicked me and I
fell d owvn again, and I got up again and I wert right in

the house. '

0 Hatch hit veou and you fell down? A, Yeos «

Q You wert in the house‘é A Picked up the hat and run
over to the house, and during the time I run over to the
house 1 seen my brother striking this man.

0 Did vou know the men that followed vaa? Al Yes -

0 Who were they? A. Hatch, ?b:)ﬁfﬂ and this mano
There was . Hatch, Ni‘?@ and Sehurr and who was the other
n? A. T don't knowe
There were four men‘;’ Al Yes -
You don't know the other man? Al Mo, sir.
There were four rnen‘:’ A. Yes .
Are vour parents here? A. Yes.
Here im Court? A. No.
What time of the night was this? A, Retween nine and
o'clock.
Q When you weremknoé ked down, did you try ;c,n defend your-
self‘é‘ ‘A‘. No, sir; I didn't try to defend myself at all,

I wanted to get in the house as quick as I could; T never

liked fight ani I have never been in a fight, 1 never had

trouble with nobody.
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Q Did your brother ever have tyronble with anvbodyv?

not that I know of.

By Coumsel

, Q He naover Des : . ot i T knw of,

/

. 21,099l T
[ of course, he is only 1 : 10 ~ I ®hink he
j

was in the Wesbern States.
Q Did you see zhy one gst teld of your brother?

A. T sesnn This MR, Selmirr shanding in front of my

hrother like thet.

Q With his =svms up? A.. V%l.
Q And lds fish clinchad? A es .
l.e shriking yar brother? A \V‘Ias aft e
shyiking him and my bretisr cot back like tiet, and he hit
et man on the head.

ou savy +thet men struck at vair brothsr and your
) N y i :

bro*her struck bhack? A. Yes.

0 And hie hLit him onth.2 head? A. Yes.

0 Did your brother heve any knife in his hend?

Mot tlet I know of.

A
Q You didn't see any knife in his
A.

Yo, sir, I did nct.

Q Did you see any weapon in iis kend? Al
see anytldng in his hand, because it was boo dark,
couldn't see anything:'.

Q Did Selurr f=11 wlhien vour brother it nwim?

.

A. Ye, he fell right down, 1alf on *te sidavalk and
in the gutter.
Q Did T2 strike his head on the gid ewe.1k? A. I sup-

he did, +he way he fell.
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Jurer:-
Did vou lmow of yaorr bw oblwr carrying
He cenerelly carries a lmife goina %o work'.
Nid rov ever ¢ he mife e generally carvi o«d¥
I Yz : g lmife e conerally carri =d.
irother wad away, didn't vou, when
sskal vou whehliar lie meent ldm, sand var
A‘. Weae went, awsy.

hreother sherthed o go away?

ion oceurred whien veou saw fonr men clesineg
vour bLrothor? A. Thet was yight in front
lived, 4LL

0 7Y, . vor ot o ddd, Lhiea o fonly men were
yor1¥

0 And +ioy sot hold of you? A sir, HBvo were
&h me snd two &b rmy brether; I was G 1 v and kickad
aft erward s'.

L
L

Q The others were et your brother? A
Q And +they were sbriking him? A. Yes.
Q You ran off and ran +to tle hious e? A,
By a Juror:-
0 Who pickaed the brick up when you passed
store of your brother?  A. My brother.
Q Why did he pick it up? A. FBecsuse -- I coulidn't

+tell vou *tilat either -- because he was not friendly with my

(20)




. i i
brother what keegps tl.e cigar store, and my brofther want ed
+o show him tlab we mean® him.

Q You: passed the store and =t the same “ime your

lie renark, son-of-a w. ke e A, Yeas.
>

bro fhier made
A. ne szid,

Q And he pickaed thie brick up?

LItz son-of-a we mean."
By Couns &l 1~

Q And he threw +he stone in Hhe direchion of your
brotlier's cigar store? A Yes..
Q And i+t fell on the sidewalk? A. Yes.

Q id +lds man, Schurr, shrike your brether first,

before he made any athbenpt +to shrike? A, Yes.

. g e . - c .
Q Did he run into the alley? A. I was ruming

already wi:mm my brother hit him.

VERNICT: We find thet Charles Schurr came to his dezth

Oc tober Sth, 1891, at Roosevelt Hospital, from a
wouind of the head and compound fracture of "bhe
skull, from injuries received on Octoba~ 4tls,
1891, between 9 and 10 o'clock P. M.y, in front of
bPremis es <44 Vest 35th Strest, Nev York City, in a

mammer unknown to this jury.
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m i oA A T 3 AT T A et

Court of General Sessionse.

The People etc

against

N ol =z e.

Honorable Dclancey Nicoll,
Dis trict Attorney,
SIR: -
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that uvpon @

the amexed affidavit, I shall apply to this Court, at

Part I. thercof on the 12th day of Decenber, 1892, at 11

o'ecloeck in the farenoon, for an order to dismiss the in-

dictment herein, or for the discharge of the defendant
on his own recognizance, and for such o ther and further
prelief as to the Court shall seem just and proper.
Dated, New Yor k, Decenber, 8th, 1892.
Yours etce.
Adolpnh L. Sanger,
Defendant's Counsel,
Office & P. 0. Address, 115 Broadmay,

New Yoxk Citvy.
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Court of General Sessionse.

The People etce.

against

X

City and County of New York, ss:

Adoliph L. Sanger, being duly sworn, sayé, that he
is eocansel for t he above named defendanto. That the
said defendant was indiected in or about the month of
Oc tober, 1891, on the charge o f marder in the first
degree.

That on the 30th day of Novenber, the case waas set
down for trial before the Honorable Cka rles H. Van Brunt
one of the Justices of the Supreme Court of the State of
New York, at a Court of Oyer and Terminer.

The said case was not tried on said last named day.

nor was said case placed upon the calendar for that

term, but was moved off by the District Attorney for the

County of New Yorke.

That thereafter the said defendant was re—-findic ted
for mansluaghter in the sec ond degree, upon the same
alieged ground for which he had first been indicted for
murder in the first degree. The said case did not
appear upon the ca lendar for trial fqr the 25th day of
May, 1892, on which day the trial began and was c on tinu-
ed until,the 26th day of May, 1892, when the case was

summed up and given to the Jury, but said Jury was unabl e
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to agree upon a verdict. That said case did not aga@in

appear upon the calendar of the Court until the 30th day

of Juneys 1892, at which time the case was set down for

trial for the 6th day of July, 1892, but sald case aid

not then appear on the day calendar of the Court, nor

as deponent is informed and believes, has said case been

set down for trial for any day s ince that timeo

That the defendant has been impris cned in the City

Prison since the month of Oc tober, 1891, and that said

defendant has been and is restrained of his libertye.

8th day of Decenber, 1892: -
CC%{/QLMJ/ 6/%)

‘/@ﬂW"f/&t«/r — ()ﬁ@é&/ i

e

sworn to bef ore me this
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Office Cyrus Bdson b : W Sth St.

New York Oct =

ion Delancey Nicoll.

Tistrict Attorney.

scknowledgs the receipt of your

concerning ¢ H y y your messengsar and to rsport

§ [ T T

- - @
- RN} o ) .
of blade of knife shows large numbers of blood

to thosas found in human 00
I expecit to have measured ons thousand o

ntestinal contents ¢ g be presant.

andiksy-and awa it yqdr furiner

Restectfully\Jours
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Officer John Carley,20th Precinct, found the knife.d'{‘,_d"
Officer George Smith of the ITth Precinet,was with him.
—_—

/x-—\ Mr.Shurr,510 West 49+th Street: proves leath.

_r ;
AX— Rounisman Campbell,Ist Dist.Court,was with fapt.Cross.

at interviecw at the Tombs with iefeniant,.ﬁ;% P

\
LBy Fand

_ﬂZ‘ Orficer ijay of the 20th Prect. went to the house of defena

ant to #ind him,that he was Jone. (o 02

L. Geor-e Fox was the friend of Illatch,who came up to the

seene Of the homicide after he,Fox,went away s and helped

to remove leceased. Fox can e Ffound south-west corner of

Y *.’"; ut .ﬂ>
34th & 10th Avenue-— truckman. Tane i Flere s " -
- o ‘j

Ly ey A .
Dr.at Roosevelt Hogspital can testify to the wounds-.
_77P. lierman loelze brother of the defendant will testify to

the Ocecurrence,and can be found at brewery,28th Street

betveen 7th and &Hth Avenucs, Grohs & Sons,hrewery.

L gty
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A TR g o e M T M

Court of Genergl Sessions.

Tonnrable Deloancey Wicoll,
District At tornaey,
IR:I-
PLEASE TAXE NOTICE that upon the annexed
arficdavit, I shzll apply to this Jourt, at Part I. there-
- . : .
of, on the .\f’f V4 dav of September, 1392, at 11 o'clock
in the forenonn, for an order to dismiss the indictment
herein, or for the discharge of the def.andant on his own
roeognizance, and for such other and furtrer yelief as”

to the Court shiall soom just and prop er.

nated, Wew York, Septearnb @1’:,// 15322.
14

Yours ctc.

Adolph Lie Szngsy,

NDefendant®s Counsal
s

Office & P. 0. Address, 115 Broadway,

« .

Wew York Citve
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Court of Gener:z1l Sessionse.

againsat

N o 1L z £

0ity and County of New York, &s:

Adolph L. Sanger, being dauly sworn, says, that he
is counsel for the above named delendante. That the
said defendant was indicted in .or. about 1tha month of
October, 1#s3l, ofl the charge of murder in the irst
degree.

That on the 30t dsy ofi MNovember, the case was set
down Tor trial before the Honorable Charles H. Van Erunt,
one of the Justices of the Supreme Jourt of the State of

"New Vork., at a Court of Oyer and Terminere.

That said case was not btried on said last named day ,
nor was said case placed upon the calendar for that term,
»uat was moved off by the District Atorney foir the County
of New York.

That thereafter the said defendant was re-indicted
for manslaughter in the second degree, upon the same
slleged ground for vhich he had first been indicted for
murder in the first degree. That said case did not
appear upon the calendar fof trial for several terms,
but was Ffinally set down for trial for thw 25th day of
May, 1892, on which day the trial began and was continﬁed

auntil the 26th day of Vay, 1892, when the case was

summed up and given to the Jury, but said Jury was unable
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to agrse upon a verdict, That said czse did not again

appsar upon the calendar of the Court until the 30th day

of June, 1892, a2t whieh time the case was set down far

tyial for the 6th day of July, 1392, but said case did

not then appear on the day celendar ol the Court, noxr has

i.eenn set down ror trisl for any day since that

the defendant has been imprisoned in the City

Pricon since the month of dDciober, 18%1, and thet said

defendant has been and is restrsined of his liberty.

Swoyrn o before me this

A
%é day of Sevptembsr,

(f;/)/m””"?'*»--my A o
2
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Charged with Manslaughter.

s Treord . —

Max lNoelze,aged 22 years,of 511 West 49th Street
states:— That about 9:45 P.M. he ani his brother Herman,

20,0F A44 Yiest %5th Street,were walking along West
35t Stireet betwsen 9th and 10th Avenues,having just
returned Ffrom Grohs Brewery in West 28th Street,when we
saw three young mnen standing in the street aside of a
wagon. As We passed one of them said,"You sons of bitches
where are you goingt 1 sa2id in reply Y"Go to nell." One
of them said in answer Y"(Eo on you son of & bitch" and we
continued on towards my brother Herman's house 444 Viest
35th Just as we reached my brother's house,a man
whom I afterwards learnsed was Charles Shurr,struck me
with his Fist in the face and knocked me down,his friend
struck my brother ani asszsulted him. I started to ran away
and the man Shurr, followed me and again hit me knocking
me down. I then picked up a piece of rock with a sharp
edge and struck the ssid Shurr on the head with the same
whieh I still held in my hand. Shuryr then fell down,and
T l1eft him lying thsre.l went in my brother's house,went
in the cellar of the house,took

off my coat and hung it

the docor,so that when I went out the police would not
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(2)

know me . 1 then went u, to my home and #ot a coat

and then veturned to my brother's house,wiisn I was

evening.
Thursday October 8th, 1891 ,Captain Cross visited the
Tombs Prison at one P.M.,accompanied by Roundsman James

Campbell of the First Distriet Court,and showed the

prisoner Max Toslze,a two-bladed norn-hanile pocket knife.

After examining it carefully,hs explained that it was his
kxnife.,the samc one he had the night he assaulted Charles

Shurr,wiich he threw away at the time he made his escape

through the yard and over the rear fence of 444 West 35th
Strecet ,and which was subsequently found on an extension

of a house on VWest Street. {(The knife was found by

jetective George Smith,Iith Precinct and ofFficer John

Carley of the 20th Precinet. )
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(3)
MARION L.HATCH, 463 Ninth Avenue.

I z2m working in an auction room at I520 Broadway.
I knew the deceased,Charies Shurr,and attended his funeral,
saw hiin after he was 3iead. He received the wound which
caused his death on Sundiay night,tlie 4th of October 189I1.
it happened on 35th Sireet,betwean 2th and I0th Avenues,
on the south side,about half-past nine.

About a quarter to nine o'eclock,I,Charles Shurr and
(tgovrse Fox ware in the saloon o EBrhardt,on 35th Street
betwaoen 9th and 10th Avenues,on the south side;we were
waiting to play a game of pool,and seeing that we could
not play,Charles Shurr sat Jdown at the table and Fox went
to the water closet. I went out to the closet,somebody was
there,l left the salcvon and went behind a truck to urinate
andi left the other two in the saloon. As 1 was urinating,
the defendant Max Noelze and Herman Woelze came towards

the triick anidi one of them stooped lown and picked upr some-

thing From the ground which- looked like a brick,and then

-+

I szid"You don't mean that for me,do you? v I heard them
say "son of a biteh",I thought the brick was for me. The
one who heli the brick threw it over my head, touching my
head and skinning my knuckles,and in the Jirection of a
show window of a brother of theirs who kept a kind of a
segar store on the same side of the street. It didn't
break the window. Then they walked Jdown the street
towaris IOth Avenue,on the south sile of the street. I

went back into the salcoon,l asked for Fox,he was in the
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(4)

water closet still. Shurr was sitting at the tabke .After

5

1 ealledi Ffor Jox,Shurr got up ani came out o the saloon

with me,and we followed the defendant and his brother

Jown the street towards 10th Avenue to set satisfactione.

Neither one of ®wus was aymed. ¢ finally came up with the

two Noelzez' at about 444 West 35th Street- I ran up to

jrerman and rush=3d him with my hands,and then Max,the Jde-—

Ffendant, tackled Shury and Herman tackled me. YWhile Herman

2nd I were tusseling Shurvr and iMax were fighting. sud~-

ienly the two brothers lLeft and ran awal. I sgw Shurr

lying in the putter. 1 picked him uy in my arms,l noticed

a wound on the rizht side of his head,between his eye and

ear,and he was covered with blood. Then Fox said "Marion

you had Betier O home,¥ will take care of Charlie." I

went up in the house ani went to bed,leaving Fox with

Shury .

Hateh served personally with subpoena to appear in

Part Three,on the 25th inst.

V.N.Davis.

7

Hatch took subpoena to Mr.Shurr,5I0 W.49th,to see

m V.M.Davis,on the 23rd,at 4 o'clock.

¢
Do
t
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;EQ/W OFFICER SCHOELLES, 20th Precinct.

On the night of October 4th I89X,1 was on post on
the bloek from 7th to I0th Avenues. I nhappened to be going
down th ~ough 36th Street,when I reached 10th Avenue 1 meb
Officer ywennedy of the 20th Precinet and Officer Carley
of the same precinct. ey had this Il{erman Noelze,they
were taking him to the station housej;they told me there
was =z murder committed on my post on 35th Street. 1 went
around 35th Street to see what the trouble vias ,and to see
whoether I could find out anything;i 3idn't know whether
they had the right party or not. I went to No.444,where
the murdey was committed,and whilse staniding there trying
to find out information,Herman's wife came down stairs
ani toldi me that Max was up stairs;that he had done the
stabbing and had thrown the knife away. I went up stairs
with her and he had the door locked,and she knocked at
the Joor and told him to open the Jdoor,which he dia.He
had a child in his arms. She took the child and I took
him right then ani there. I told him I wanted him to go
around to the ho.se. He then said I had no business to
corme up stairs to his brother's fooms and take him out of
there. The sweat was pouring off him. He said to me ,what
are you arresting me for. I says,You will find out as
soon as you go around to the station house. He didn't say
anything. I took him to the station house,20th Prect.

I explained the case to the Sergeant who was at the Jdesk

at the time,t0ld him this was the man who committed the
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murder, that his sister—in-law had told me. A little while

after his avrrival at the station house,the defendant was

taken by Officers Kennedy and Carley together with Ilerman

oelze to uvhe Roosevelt Hospital.
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Sce. 198—200. » District Police Court.

CITY AND CQUNTY } .o
OF NEW Y e

A’l‘ 2 _being duly examined before the under-
signed according to law, on the anmi&&ed charge; and being informed that it is h < right to
make a statement in velation to the charge against h ~— ;tliat the statement is designed to
enable h ~_ if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h
that The is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h €— waiver cannot be used
against h & _ on the trial.

Question. What is your name?’

Answer. (j( d/\6

Question. How old are you ?

Answer. % <L_— J/Cfa‘—‘—?

Question. Whep ere you born ?

Answer. ﬂ/‘Z/IA/.M7

Question. Where do you live, and how long have you resided there %

Answer. 5\ P4 / WM; '4( ;’ % 5:7{\ M

Question. What is ur business or profession ?

Answer.

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your

- exculpation ? . . o
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% W CASAC: 034 o iR T RIAME oMo

PUIPIY
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‘AL /x///ﬁ W W,

1oy eated

"oy UTJI0dd THL

TS

It appearing to me by the within depositions and staterments tlvat tlve erimne tlherein mentioned has been

convinitied, and thafthere is sufjicientcawse to believe the witivire recired

Vs,

4

Swilty thereof, I order that € he 7 be held to answer

Hundred  Dolleasr s,

the City Prjsnfz.\f the City of New York, until he 2 2
Dated 5\' e p 7 ice Jwstice.

I have admilted the above-named

to buil to answer by tlhe undertalking hereto annexed.

Dated 18 Police Justice.

There being no sufficient cawse to Lelieve the within named

Suwilty of the offence within mentioned. 1 order 7 to be discharded.

18 Police Justice.
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Hiclls of Fureslice. 1 ﬁﬁxcg:yq_"

CI'Y AND COUNTY |

Olf NIEW YORK.
é / @/}_BE IT REMEMBERED, That on
the . day.of 2 /7%’/ in the year of our Lord 177

‘agrer L X/ 7oA
of No EP/? W 3 S Street, in the city of New York,

and %ﬁ//,mm: 2740200 o
of No. LL(>5 3 VUt Th Orrecio~— Stecet, indthe said City,

personally came before thie undersigned, one of the TPolice Justices in and for the City of New York, and ac-

knowledged themgsclves to owe to, the PEO]%Qf 1c STATE OF NEW YORK, that is to say : the said
a7 2 OA

the sum of VP Hfwndred Xollars,

;:\md the said Q M%W 2 QZ’L/WWM
the sum of mz q.- FHwundred BPollars,

separately, of good and lawful money of the State of New York, to be lev ied and made of their respect-
ive goods mld chattels, lands and tenements, to the use of said People, if default shall be made in the con-
:l.tlon following, viz.

Wrhe Con(hll(bn of this HRCL(P"‘Illldllcg uq,h, l‘hn 5 the person, first above recognized,
shall personally appear, at the next COURT OF Z SESSIONS of the Peace, to be
holden in and for the City and County of New York, and then :m(l there Zestify aud give such evidence,
in behalf of the people of the State of New York, as hemay know, concerning an Offence or
Misdemeanpor, said to have been lately committed in the City of New York, aforesaid by

Pl A Eze 2l F
b&/WWM/C%M m %‘75?@- 0/4%//,4//—(

drnd do not FPcpart thence, without leave of the Court, then this Recognizance to be void,
otherwisc to remain in full force and virtue.

.. Talken and-acknowledged before me, the
4 o day fnd year Jirst abonzic written,

Police JyStice.
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P NEW YORK

the within-named Bail, being duly-®worn, says, th at lie is a holder in
said City, and is worth Fowendred IDollar s,

CITY AND COUNTY} ss

(

over and above the amount of all his debts and liabilitics ; and that his property consists of MW

- Cocee (. 2Ztz77 ( ar Dt LD
;W’ZZZ\ CM/Mb({V/'—-C/% — vl (eliciS
bt P27 Cry Alotne sveriit —love Lo

4 WC
/CQ/VL //3 ///7/4.,{ ceCh - mﬁ Leoore e

sty ‘aue ddofan yong

NGy
&\

~7

QAL AN

AJANLSIL OL ;TDA\'VZ [NDHOOUU
D

Sessions,
Mayistrate




occupation . kS BT Z)ezng duly sworn, deposes and says,
that on ﬂbe - AL E7™~_ .. ... 189 , at the City of New
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Police Somrt T

City and County
of New York. ?ss.

oceupation ...

2. Street, aged.
e being duly sworn, deposes and says,

. ..1897r , atghe City of New
Lot o a
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A

District Police Courﬁ.

t
s SS.

being duly examined before the under-
signed according to law, on the anne %1 charge; and being informed that it is h _ right to
make n stotement in relation to the charge against h ; that the statement is designed to
enable h if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h SO
that The is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h - waiver cannot be used
against h < on the trial.

Questiorn. What is your name ?
Answer.
Question. How old are you !t

 Answer. 2, O ;/(’M

Question. Where were you born?

Answer. W

Question. Where do you live, and how long have you resided there ?

answer.  Lf G S oo 352 L 2 oo

Question. What is your business or profession ?

~
. Answer.

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your
exculpation ?

Answer. C} e W);/ M .

-~

98N 90007 T
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BRspien:

- HE ROOSEVELT-FOSPITAL,

59TH STREET AND NINTH AVENUE,
JAS. R. LATHROP,

SUPERINTENDENT.

e
e e T T,

e York,...... 0% .................. ot 8G 7
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Police CSonrt. ..~ . Pistrict

0 e o7, Ny 'M .

of Woc L\ % a A AL L (LETET Dtredt,
A'/'/ ................. day of.. =~

e County of New York,

0CCUPALLOTY -

that on the..... .
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ON THE COMPLAINT OF

THE PEOPLE, &c.,

Police Court,__ Di
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CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK,

says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit o
and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponent’s own

knowledge.

Sworn to §

(3692)
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ot of General Sessionz of the Lewre

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

TaE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

adgainst

- \\'\.%»* W’

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse

—_— TN "‘Q\a\v\g -

of the CriMe oF MANSLAUGHTER IN THE >=< ~sr——- & DEGREE, committed as follows:

The said M’Y.\ ‘M"{z_ >
—~

//

on the W-‘Jx, day of RSN SO R . in the year

of our Lord one

thousand eight hundred anc ninety- —~-—-—-=-» , at the City of New York in the County of

New York aforesaid, in and upon one S A o . sra- Do > then and there

being, wilfully and feloniously did mmake an assault, and —— P ———— the said

A3 WP, NP = P with a certain w which e

the said — “N~——— o — ‘\c\_@\rz-\?_— then and there had and held in S<—lsr ha,nd}

in and upon the TR o B of Se—nl the said B a-Dam Iy st

then and there wilfully and feloniously did strike, AT e P <

» and wound,

giving unto o A the s2id8%a~lez Sg)lxww, then and there, with the = >

aforesaid, in and upon the TR e D of s the said R P w05

Mﬂ.m , — one mortal wound
/7

of which said




mortal wounnd Rew .~ the said S v v Do _ ‘)\«—5\«\»-—‘"/, at the City aud
County aloresaid, from the day first aforesaid, in the year aforesaid, until the XW\%"

day of pa— ‘3/\*“’?\'"“ - > in the same year aforesaid, did languish, and languishing
live, and on which said — "\%ﬁ@c\_ —— day of > \‘Kﬁ?\-“r\—

in the year aforesaid, - the said S | e N o )\&X\A»r\r\’/)

did die.

at the City and County alorosaid, of the said mortal wound

And so the Grand Jury aforesaid do say: That the

\\\\0»7__ "‘{_\Q\t)}? » 7\‘“:\4—\'\, »

the said i R N ‘Ff P~ A.h)\,} in ths manner and form, aud by

the means aforesaid, wilfully and feloniously did kill and slay ; against the form of the statute in such

case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their

dignity.
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And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this indictment, further accuse the said

of the OriME oF MANSLAUGHTER IN THE r==m~< ~_ DEGREE, committed as follows:

The said ~“TNC~—o—mp . W .

on the MEC- day of Q/M\' in the year of our Lord one
Nﬁ y o > y

thousand eight hundred and ninety- ——~———=»— , at the City of New York in the County of

NWew York aforesaid, in and upon one SR~ Fm ~r W) then and there

being, wilfully and feloniously did make an assaulg, and e S

the said
S P S m»—-u\’\/‘ with a certain r—‘iw_n_. whiclh P S

the said =~ - o g "\<\,r§\r>\z._. then and there had and held in Dcmrr hand/

in and upon the TR~ oA DS, of S the said b W NV )B“Xw-}

then and there wilfully and felomiously did strike, A;u&_- > and wound,

giving unto 7.—‘.\,\:_»4 the saidwsm) then and there, with the PU,, o N

aforesaid, in and upon the )\‘_\1‘,};\, of - S

v S, W, -, SR,

the said

one mortal wound

of which said




 POOR QUALITY
 ORIGINAL

mortal wound D> SR the said S e wa sk A_}b P ~mmrr~~ , at the City and

County aforesaid, from the day first aforesaid, in the year aforesaid, until the 7\?&/

day of ., - NP

in the same year aforesaid, did languish, and languishing did
- v .
live, and on which said ———*W — dav of D, S R

in the year aforesaid, - P the said S22 D o ~Dmrmr P N

-

did die.

at the City and County aforesaid, of the said mortal wound/ N

And so the Grand Jury aforesaid do say: That the said

the said MAJ b@)\—\'\’\_’\f\ -

in the manner and form, and by
the means aforesaid, wilfully and feloniously did kill and slay ; against the form of the statute in such
case made and provided, and against-the peace of the People of the State of New York and their
dignity.

T YT

T Yo
NTC UL L,
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NV SN o AT

COUN'L.

And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this indictment, further accuse the said

Ny__ "'\c‘\.g\ng_

e

of the Crine or MANSLAUGHTER IN THE >os~<» 0 - DEGREE, committed as follows:

The said v~——onpy_ ‘“\c\,&\},\g_ .

“on the N»A-\,K day of %&@b\_’ in the year of our Lord one

thousand eight hundred and minety- _so——=_ — | at the City of New York in the County of
New York aforesaid, in and upon one S o Ao M\(\w"\, then and there

being, wilfully and feloniously did make an assault, and —— S the saicd

orSdy PR, WP s W S with a certain am 0o L o S o
DR S, W \_MX %xp.—_.él_h\ PR I, » ,\.-P\\.Kac?\.\ = SENE N
the said ~~ ~—. @ T NG — then and there had and held in P e—ra- ha.nd/

in and upon the - o D of "R the said SR Ru~o~h M% ES NG N

then and there wilfully and feloniously did strike, ~ and wound,
giving unto = _Re—as the said @Qw\/%z/‘5¢£§‘mj then and there, with the PN, CISS-. ¢
aforesaid, in and upon the T N of R the said

v B N, U iy ~ S, y ome mortal wound P

of which said
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mortal wound > N the said SR oo 5:*?\«...;\)\/ , at the City and

Coununty aforesaid, from the day first aforesaid, in the year aforesaid, until the N?\%\‘ —_
day of R e"—(.ng\-o,—»‘_.

-, —— in the same year aforesaid, did languish, and languishing did

live, and on which, said }V'»NK\ day of T S s S

in the year aforesaid, R~ the said P N NN MNM’ >

at the City and County aforesaid, of the said mortal wound , did die.

And so the Grand Jury aforesaid do say: That the
TN TN < -~ . \\Q\,:\‘Z_ > >\¢\'~ e >

the said R A R,S\n_m [ =N RSN P in the manner and fo1‘m, and by

the means aforesaid, wilfully and feloniously did kill and slay ; against the form of the statute in such
case made and provided. and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their
dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District _Attorney.




Noyes, Stephen
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03/11/92
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TPolice Couxrt— J-‘ Distxrict.

(Jtty, andy  @onnty
bziu Pork,

//—WC%{/ Strect, aded... . .Z.. J(,wrs,

%' being duwly sworwn,

deposes and says, that on the.... Z day of @W JSBAw the City of New

Yorlk, in the County of New York, was feloniously talken, stoler, and carried away fronv the possessiorn

e ot
P .l /’Z-’ﬁ/écc / éé—)/% P IR A

and that this deponent

has a probable cause to sw. (l property was feloniously taler, staZen

o

and capried away by //"W/}?/
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See. 198—200. - Lj Districet Police Court.

L

CITY AN CyOL‘II\'TTY g-ss.

m/w being duly examined before the under-

signed acedrding to law, on the ann‘?z( charge; and being informed that it is h “~gight to
malke a statement in relation to th&€ charge against h ~—~g_that the statement is designed to
enable h~—__ if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h
that The is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h Uaiver cannot be used
against h ——__on the trial

Question. What is your ngix

Answer.

Question. How old are you?

Answer.

Question. Where were yop born?

T e G —

Qresiion.
Answer.

Question. What is your business or profession ?

Answer. W

Qrestion. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
T “o e gestimony  Against you, and state dny facts whichTyou think ™ will” tend ~to" your~
exculpation ¢ N

Answer.

gyo.10/5q wayng

7

]

DYSNL 90%0]
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TN
U

I/
SOSSAUIL AL

100 90T0g

KXIVIdKOD HILL XO

40

Joaste o)

¢

RIS 1)\

=z
=
e,
g

W

St atena iy T’

Tt appearing to e by the within depositions and statemnenis that the criine therein mentiorned has been

connvitted, caid that there is swjficient cowse Lo beligre tlhe witlhin named

Ly

g‘ni%reof, 7@_@_7:3@&# he e Reld to answer the sarne and he be admitted Lo Dail ir the suny of
s S
Hundred Dollars - ard be conwnittec%he Wa/rden and Keeper of

the City Pr 2 he  give swel bail, e

<

olice Justice.

I have admittecd the above-narmed.

to Deil to answer by the wndertaking lvereto annexed.

Dated i8 : Police Justice.

There being no sufficient cawuse to believe the within named

=z Luilty of the offernce within mentioned. I order 7o to be discharged.

Dated Police Justice.
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COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS OF THE PEACE OF THE CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK.

Trr PeorLeE oF THE STATE oF NeEw YORK,

ngeeiinst

THE GRAND JURY OF E CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK, by this

indictment, accuse (M /é/é///\/e s &517’@0

e

— ~

of the OriMe or GRAND LARCENY IN THE V<<l co»e .o DEGREE,

C

The said
’/ /

late of the City of New York in the County of New York aforesaid, on the (/(M/ day of

&/6»(/\0 in the year of our Liord one thousand eight hundredl 4nd ninety- ﬁ‘?/L/Q
at the City and County aforesaid, with foree and arms, in the a{/ﬂ_/(_ 7 __  time of said da;y,\‘\
divers promissory notes for the payment of money, being then and ther‘&d’é and unsatisfied (and of
the kind known as United States Treasury Notes), of a number ang denomination to the Grand Jury

,//?)a,foresa,id unknown, for the payment of and of the value of 'M‘_/Sjy e

dollars ; divers other promissory notes for the payment of m , being then and there due and un-
satisfied (and of the kind known as Bank Notes), of a number and”denomination to the Grand Jury

aforesaid unknown, for the payment of and of the value of 2l

s T

dollars ; divers United States Silvey Cepfificates, of a numlfer/and denomination to the Grand Jury

aforesaid unknown, of the value of /L/Ei—(/

dollars ; cdivers United States GoldbCer 'f‘éa,tes, of a number and denomination to the Grand Jury
aforesald unknown, of the value of

dollars ; divers coin fo{ a numbezr,

the value of
E F— C/(»c, -

of the goods, chattels and personal property of one %QK(/ L/a @{\/ u/‘;/é/,(

U, then and there being found,

then and there feloniously did steal, take and carry away, against the form of the statute in such
case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their
dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District Attorney.







